
Homicides of Adults in Surry County, VirginiaPRIVATE 


FIX c. 1862 slave runaways homicides – need to check source, but count for now

Check 1858- homicides in judgments, etc.  Need indictments, dates of offenses, etc.






SUR
Class of death:   

Class of crime:   

Relationship:    

Motive:  


Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  



Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1662, July




SUR

CT

Class:   uncertain examination

Crime:   SUSPICIOUS DEATH / prob NAT / poss HOM

Rela:    HHLD [SERVANT or SLAVE] by MASTER and MISTRESS

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Mr. Peter Green and ___ Green (his wife)

VICTIM(s):
Katterne [Katherine] (a servant woman of Peter Green)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  d. 7/16.


Inquest:  i.d. 7/20/1662:  verdict:  natural causes.


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  none

Legal records:  
Surry County Court Order Book, 1:  1652-1663:  192-5.


"You are to Inquire whether Katterne A woman servant of Mr. Peeter Green died a naturall or violent death . . . by Any signs of blows bruises or weapon of Any kind . . . .  Wee whose Names are Above . . . veiw the Corps of a woman servt. of Mr. Peeter Greens who departed this life the 16th of this Instant which wee have accordingly vewed & made Inquirys of what evidence wee could find concerning the said servants death and Allsoe caused the said Greene And his wife to touch the Corps, And did not find any signs or tokens of Any blows or Kicks which might cause An untimely death & to our Judgmt. shee died Natrually.  20th July 1662."

TESTIMONY


"Erasmus Christian Aged 36 yeares or there abouts Came this day being the 20th day of July 1662 before us volluntarily & doth declare that Kattarne A servant maid to Mr. Peeter Green . . . did tell this declarer that her Mrs: Mrs: Green had beaten her soe terribly & footed & kickt her that she should surely dye . . . and did beg this deponent for the Lords sake that hee would declare this after her decease.


The Examination of Anne Dawson . . . saith that she coming Axitentually to the house of Mr. Peeter Greene Mrs. Greene desired this deponent to strip the corps of Catterne . . . saith she see no spott or sign of blows uppon the said Corps only one spott of blood upn her breast of her shifft . . .


The Examination of Mary Beson [Bason] . . . saith that shee never see Mr Greene or his wife to Abuse the above said Katterne either by kick or blows or Any unlawful weapon neither did shee ever hear the said Katterne Complaine of Any Abuse In the Least."

Newspaper:
Other Sources:


John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959), 85-6.


"In 1662 two worthy citizens of Surry were required to 'stroke the corpse' of a deceased maid servant to see if her death had been brought about by a blow or a bruise. . . .  The master and mistress in the presence of a coroner's jury composed of such leading citizens as George Watkins, Augustine Hunnicutt, Charles Barham, Arthur Long, George Carter, Richard Drew, Richard Jarrett, William Tuke and John Mason, were required to run their hands over the inanimate face and form of the deceased.  The jury brought in a verdict of natural death."  

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Peter Green

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

___ Green

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Peter

Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Katherine

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w or b?]

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:




Occupation:

indentured servant

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1665




SUR

CT


CHECK:  further about JH's social status:  a husband and father, as well as a servant?  Are the entries in the COB about a different person?

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
unknown person(s)

VICTIM(s):
James Hugate (a servant)


Weapon:  bruises on his head and face.  [phys or blunt?]


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  The coroner's jury found "bruises aboute his head and face one on his head on on his brow one on ye left side of his Nose & a ___ ___ his left Eare how he came to have gott wee cannot find."  So the jury refers the matter to the Surry Court


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Surry County, Deeds, Wills, Etc., Book 1 (1652-1672):  260.  Inquest.


Kevin Kelly, Economic and Social Development of Seventeenth-Century Surry County, Virginia (New York:  Garland, 1989), 89.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
COB 1:  1652-1663, p. 94:  A bill binding James Hugate to pay Thomas Swann 2000 l. t. on 10/10/1656.  Dated 1/30/1655, signed Jasque Huguet.  Wit:  Wm Hill, Wm Penn.

COB 1:  1652-1663, p. 121.  Examination of James [Jasque?] Hugate:  about middle of Oct. 1656, Roger Potter "taking a private opportunity fell in discourse" with JH "about his Ingagement ot Lieu: Coll: Swan" & at last persuaded JH to escape paying his debts with RP "in a designe of a secret running away Into a remote part of ye. bay."  & they would also take JH's wife with them, she being very big with child.  & RP said that "if she did any otherwise then well they would through [sic[] her overboard" -- but JH, not wishing to commit any such crime, told Col. Swan of the business.  MORE HERE:  says RP continued to try to persuade him to run away, to steal, etc.  JH here implicates MANY SERVANTS [here are motives galore!!!].  

Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

James Hugate

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m

Children:

prob. 1 child

Occupation:

servant

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1678




SUR

CT


NOTE:  The verdict of the court is emphatic in clearing the Newitts, but the inquest jury felt strongly otherwise.  What to think?

Class:   uncertain examination

Crime:   SUSPICIOUS  / poss HOM / poss NAT

Rela:    HHLD SERVANT or SLAVE by MASTER and MISTRESS

Motive:  

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
William Newitt & ___ Newitt (his wife)

VICTIM(s):
Isabella (a servant [slave] of William Newitt)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  [apparently found the death suspicious and blamed the Newitts]


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  i.d. 1678:  "By the Verdt of a Jury of Inquest there was a very just Cause of Summoning of Wm Newitt & his Wife to make a further Inquiry of __ Isabella their Srvts Death."  After further examination, "it appearing that their Verdt was altogeather very Strange Irronious and that the sd Newitt & his Wife are altogeather very Cleard from being any Cause of the said Servts Death."  Ordered that Wm Newitt & his wife "be Discharged from the Same and that the whole Jury pay all the Charge of the Clerk & Sheriffs Fees Equally among them."

Legal records:  

Surry County, Court Orders, Book 1 (1671-1691, part 1):  219.  Inquest verdict.


Kevin Kelly, Economic and Social Development of Seventeenth-Century Surry County, Virginia (New York:  Garland, 1989), 89.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959), 136-7.  Wm Newitt:  the only Lawnes Creek Parish man to be identified positively as a Baconian.  Tithable in 1668; 2 tithes in 1674; tithable in 1678; etc.  2 tithes in 1694.  Also served as a juror on several cases.  In 1675, Jno Phillips serves as constable in lieu of Wm Newitt.

Surry Co. Court Records, 4:  1671-1692:  599:  Jno. Myles member of the militia in 1687.

Accused 1:  

William Newitt

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

___ Newitt

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. William

Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Isabella

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

a servant [slave] of William Newitt

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1695, July




SUR

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Tom (a mulatto slave of Major Samuel Swann)

VICTIM(s):
Mary Myles


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  7/1695


Court proceedings:  No verdict recorded.  A trial was held.  The entry in the orders notes payments for the costs of the trial.

Legal records:  

Surry County, Court Orders, Book 2 (1691-1713):  134.


Kevin Kelly, Economic and Social Development of Seventeenth-Century Surry County, Virginia (New York:  Garland, 1989), 89.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959), 201:  in 1694, Mathew Swann has 2 tithes in hhld, as does Thos. Swann, Jr.  166:  Major Samuel Swann, a burgess from Surry Co., 1680-2, 1685-8; also a jp.  193:  1683, Samuel Swann has 2 tithes.  NOT A WEALTHY MAN, it seems, but clearly a military leader.

Accused 1:  

Tom

Ethnicity:



Race:


mulatto

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

a slave of Major Samuel Swann

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Mary Myles

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1700, Jan. 28




SUR

CT

GOVT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD MASTER by SERVANT and SLAVE

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
John Ide & Jamey (an Indian slave)

VICTIM(s):
Thomas Bage [Bagt] (husband of Elizabeth Bagt)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  JI fG.  Executed.  Jamey pG.  Executed.

Legal records:  
Surry COB, 1691-1713:  March 5, 1700, pp. 208-9.


MURDER:  FELONY:  O&T:  trial of Tommy [Iamoy? James?], an Indian slave of the estate of Thomas Bagt, late of Surry Co., suspected of the malicious & wilful murder of the said Thomas.  Malice aforethought.  At 9pm at night, Jan. 28, near a swamp side within a half mile of the dwelling house of the late Thomas Bagt [the victim].  With a gun loaded with powder & shot.  To the left side of T's body, .5" below the navel, d. 2 hrs.  pG.  DEATH.  To be hanged on Monday, 3/12.

Surry COB, 1691-1713:  Oct. 17, 1700.  Court of Claims, p. 212


Elizabeth Bagt, the administrator of the estate of Thomas Bagt, asked the court to certify her request for reimbursement for Tommy, an Indian slave of TB's estate, condemned "by due course of law" & executed last March.  Certification granted.


"In Aprill Generall Court 1700 . . .


John Ide for ye Murder of Thomas Bage of Surry County.  Condemned.  and was afterwards executed."

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1927), 2: 154, 61, 41, 44.


41:  Council, 2/22/1700:  Jamey (an Indian slave) charged with the murder of his master, Thomas Bage, & Court of Oyer & Terminer appointed to try him.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959).


197:  Deed Book, 1694-1709, pp. 21-3:  List of tithables taken June 10, 1694:  Thomas Bage (3 tithes in his hhld, including William Rogorr).  


188, 194, 202:  Also a white tithable in 1678, 1688, 1698 [no mention in those lists of # in hhld].


191:  Book 1671-1684, pp. 524-8:  Lawnes Creek Parish tithables, 1683.  Thomas Bags (3 tithes in his hhld., including John Smith & Thomas Taylor)


TB was not on 1668, 1674 or 1702 tithe lists.  Did not receive a Surry land grant.  Was in Surry Co. militia in 1687 (210).  Was not in the index.  


John Ide was on no list & was not in the index.


Kevin Kelly, Economic and Social Development of Seventeenth-Century Surry County, Virginia (New York:  Garland, 1989), 89.

Accused 1:  

John Ide

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

servant of TB

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Jamey

Ethnicity:



Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of TB

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Thomas Bage [Bagt]

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Elizabeth

Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1706, Nov. 29




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by SLAVE

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Frank (a negro slave of Col. Benj. Harrison)

VICTIM(s):
Goney [Toney] (a negro slave of Col. Benj. Harrison)


Weapon:  [blunt]  with a maule to the back of the head.  Inst.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  12/1706


Court proceedings:  pG.  Death.  To be hanged, warrant to be issued.  Executed.

Legal records:  
Surry COB, SE 12/9/1706, p. 287.

MURDER:  FELONY:  O&T:  Frank, a negro slave of the Honorable Col. Benj. Harrison, murdered Goney, also a slave of Col. Benj. Harrison.  On Nov. 29, 1706, between 10pm & 11pm at night, at a certain quarter or plantation belonging to Col. Harrison on the south side of the Blackwater Swamp (5th yr of the Queen's reign).  With a maule, malice aforethought, to back part of head.  2" deep wound.  d. inst.  pG.  DEATH.  to be hanged, warrant to be issued.

Surry COB, SE 3/4/1707, p. 289.

Frank, a negro slave of Col. Benj. Harrison, executed for murder of Toney, a negro slave, valued at 30 l. sterling.  Certified to General Assembly.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959).

Benj. Harrison:  74 (BH first patented land in 1638 -- perhaps a relative of Lt. George Harrison, who patented 200 acres in 1621), 93 (a viewer of tobacco, 1639, for the easterly side of Chippoakes Creek to Mr. Hudd's), 109 (only 30 slaves appear among the tithables for 1675, but there may have been more, as BH's list for part of Southwark Parish does not specify the character of the tithables), 110 (BH & his mother Mrs. Mary Sidway were among the wealthiest residents of the county in 1675), 111 (a justice of the peace at time of Bacon's Rebellion), 121 (BH supported Nathaniel Bacon, as did most of the county elite & the common people), 139 (served as a Burgess for the first time in 1677), 143 (appeared om 1677 as part of the non-Baconian element in the county [seems to have switched sides]), 154 (one of the justices in 1672 who cited Matthias Marriott for contempt for giving his negro a note "to go abroad on Sunday," he having no business, & using scurrilous language to the Court; also passed a general order forbidding negroes to assemble on Sat. & Sun., "whereby they win opportunity to consult of unlawful projects and combinations to the danger of the neighbors as well as to their masters," & forbidding negroes to wear apparel that "does highten their foolish pride and induce them to steal fine linen and other ornaments," & ordered negroes to wear only blue shirts, "so that it may be discovered if they steal or wear other linens"), 166 (a burgess in 1676-7, 1680-2, 1691-2, 1697, 1698), 172 (member of the Council, 1698-1713)  (d. 1713).

214:  Quit Rent Rolls, 1704:  2750 acres.  (only 6 men with 2000+ acres in the county).

207:  Southwark Parish tithes, 1702.  25 tithes in Col. BH's hhld (including Sam Lanbrook, William Lennger, Morgan Lewis, Richard Lewis, Edward Parrott).

199:  Tithes, 1694.  19 tithes in hhld (including Robert Cartwright, Nathaniel Harrison, Thomas Haynes, Silas Smith).

192:  Tithes, Lawnes Creek Parish, 1683.  12 tithes in hhld (including John Allen, Thomas Battell, Hen Francis, Jr., Thomas Kersey

188:  a tithable in 1678; 2 tithes in his hhld in 1674; a tithable in 1668 (Mr. Benjamin Harrison).

Accused 1:  

Frank

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

a slave of Col. Benj. Harrison

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Goney [Toney]

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

a slave of Col. Benj. Harrison

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1711




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
John Jones

VICTIM(s):
John Sewell


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  10/1711


Court proceedings:  To be tried by General Court.

Legal records:  
Surry COB, SE 10/8/1711.  p. 377.


MURDER:  EXAM COURT:  FELONY:  John Jones jailed "for being supposed to have been guilty of the death of John Sewell."  Examination of "several evidences then taken against him being well & duely considered," ordered that the Sheriff deliver Jones to the keeper of the public goal at Williamsburgh for "his further tryall therein."


Morris Kallyham, Nicholas Kallyham, Henry Davis, Elizabeth Maybury, Sarah Reeves, & Francis Maybury each ordered to post 50 l. sterling bond to appear at the 4th day of the next General Court to give evidence "for our Said Sovereign Lady the Queen" against John Jones concerning the death of John Sewell.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959).  

Neither man on 1704 quit rent rolls or 1702 tithes.  Neither in index.  None of the witnesses appear either!

No Sewell listed in COB; no Sarah Reeves; many John Jones, but still alive & prominent after this trial.  Identity of murderer unclear.

Accused 1:  

John Jones

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

John Sewell

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1728




SUR?

GOVT


CHECK:  did this homicide occur in Surry County, or another county in southern Virginia?

Class:   do not count

Crime:   poss HOM / prob WAR

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  [POLITICAL]

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Sapponie Indians

VICTIM(s):
an English settler


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  allegedly committed the murder while the accused were hunting


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Journals of the Burgesses of Virginia, 1727-1734, 1736-1740 (Richmond, Va.:  The Colonial Press, E. Waddey Co., 1910), v. 6: 64.


5/27/1730:  pet. of Capt. Henry Embry & 37 men of the Surry Co. militia who in Dec. 1728 rode out against the Sapponie Indians, who then out hunting & were suspected of murdering one of the inhabitants of the Southern Frontier of Va.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

Sapponie

Race:


Ind

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

[m]

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1732, August


do not count:  location unclear & other data for Surry missing in these years

HOM of IND by IND:


Council, 10/22/1732:  Saponie Indians complain that the great men of the Nottoways did not attend the Council "to justifie themselves & their Nation of the murder of some of the Saponie Nation with which they are charg'd."  Commanding officer of the Surry Co. militia ordered to seize the Nottoway great men & bring them under guard to Williamsburgh for examination.  (287)


Council, 10/28/1732:  Saponie complain of "divers murders" committed on them since their return to Virginia.  Especially that the Nottoway joined "divers foreign Indians" in attacking the Saponies' fort last August.  Mary Tatum testified that Jeminy, a Nottoway Indian, owned at her house upon his return from the Saponie fort that he & others of the Nottoway had been fighting the Saponies.  Also appears that the Nottoway had at their town four Saponies they had taken prisoner.  Ordered to pay the Saponies 10 l. damages.  Jeminy & 2 other great men of the Nottoways to be jailed in Williamsburgh until the prisoners are returned.  Ordered them to stop their mutual hostilities & ordered the Nottoways not to entertain any foreign Indians, esp. from the Six Nations or the Tuscaroras.  (290-1)


Council, 12/15/1732:  plot uncovered by the Six Nations & the Tuscaroras to attack the Saponies.  Council orders the arrest of any Indians of those nations found in Virginia without License.  (293-4)


Council, 6/13/1733:  peace treaty signed among the Nottoways, Saponies, & Tuscaroras.  Saponies free to remove to live with the Tuscaroras or to remain in Virginia on their land.  But if they do leave Virginia, they may not hunt on any patented land nor come to Virginia in companies great than 3 in number. (303)

H. R. McIlwaine, ed., Executive Journals of the Council of Colonial Virginia, v. 4:  Oct. 25, 1721-Oct. 28, 1739 (Richmond:  Virginia State Library, 1930), 287, 290-1, 293-4, 303.

1746, Jan. 11




Albemarle Parish, SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD MASTER by SLAVES

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
7pm

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Ned & Fortune

VICTIM(s):
Joseph Pettway, their master


Weapon:  tomahawk to head & body.  d. inst.


Circumstances:  O&T:  Ned (a negro man slave) and Fortune (a negro woman slave), slaves belonging to the estate of Joseph Pettway of Surry Co, deceased, on 1/11/1746 at 7pm or 8pm in the evening at the parish of Albemarle m. Jos. Pettway, their master.  Tomahawk "upon the Head and many parts of the Body."  d. inst.  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  1/1746


Court proceedings:  O&T:  Fortune pNG.  fG.  Death.  To be hanged.  Judgment respited & stayed until 10 days next after her being delivered of the child with which she now goes.  Fortune valued at 35 l. current money.


Ned pG.  Death.  To be hanged on Feb. 1 & "Ned's Head then be severed from his Body and Stuck upon a pole to be Erected for that purpose at the Fork of the roads next below this Courthouse."  Ned valued at 45 l. current money.

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 1/21/1746 (11-15)


ACCOUNTS 253:  

--to Mr. Secretary Nelson for two Commissions of Oyer & Terminer

--to the clerk for tending a Court of Oyer & Terminer for Trial of Ned and Fortune for Murder.

[no accounts suggesting they were hanged, etc.]

Order Book 1744-1749, SE 1/22/1747, p. 253

John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959).  

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Ned

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Joseph Pettway

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Fortune

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Joseph Pettway

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Joseph Pettway

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1750, [Jan.]




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    RELATIVE FATHER by SON

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Joshua Fitzpatrick

VICTIM(s):
his father, Richard Fitzpatrick  


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  1/1750


Court proceedings:  Jailed.  Witnesses:  John Andrews, John Kenebrugh, Richard Gardiner, Thomas Alfobrooke, Wm Hughland.  To be tried in April at the next General Court.  Witnesses bound for 20 l. current money each.

Legal records:  

Surry Crim. Proc., SE 1/16/1750, pp. 26-27.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Joshua Fitzpatrick

Ethnicity:

[Scots-Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Richard Fitzpatrick

Ethnicity:

[Scots-Irish]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:

at least 1 son

Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1755, Jan. 14




Southwick Parish, SUR

CT

P

PARISH REGISTER

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD MASTER & MASTER'S FAMILY by SLAVE

Motive:  REVENGE for a WHIPPING

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Jemmy (slave of Benjamin Hyde, deceased)

VICTIM(s):
Benjamin Hyde (his master), Mary Hyde, (BH's wife), & Sarah, Cherry, and Hannah Hyde (their children)


Weapon:  strike & wound.  [axe, cut off heads]  d. inst.


Circumstances:  Jemmy, a Negro man slave of Benj. Hyde, deceased, on 1/14/1755, at parish of Southwark.  m. Benj. Hyde (his master), Mary (BH's wife), & 3 children of BH.  Did strike, wound, & murder.  Revenge for a whipping.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  1/1755


Court proceedings:  pNG.  Witnesses:  Arthur Smith, Thos Tomlinson, Henry Nicholson, Wm Bellamy.  fG.  To be hanged & his head severed & stuck on a pole erected for that purpose at the fork of the road near the end of Captain Wm Clinch's Cherry walk & his body burned to ashes.  Sentence to be carried out immediately.  Jemmy valued at 45 l. current money.

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 1/19/1755, pp. 39-41.


Rankin:  a Negro male slave m. his master, his mistress, & their three children in Surry Co.  Committed the murder "after having received 'pretty severe Correction'" -- the murderer "decapitated the bodies before making his escape.  After his capture, the Surry County Court ordered him hanged immediately after the trail, his head to be then cut off and his body burned."


Hugh F. Rankin, Criminal Trial Proceedings in the General Court of Colonial Virginia (Williamsburg:  Colonial Williamsburg, 1965; distributed by the University of Virginia Press, Charlottesville), 212, 225.


Thomas Branch Dunn, The Register of Albemarle Parish:  Surry and Sussex Counties, Virginia, 1738-1778 (typescript, 1938).  //  Register of the Deaths of White Persons (10/25/1739 - 7/_/1778).  [no comments on the brief list of deaths of negroes]



148b:  #4530:  MURDER:  Benjamin Hyde & Mary his wife & Sarah, Cherry, & Hannah, their children.  d. 4/22/1754.  "All murdered by their own negro man!  The man was murder'd in the Field, and all the rest in the House; all their heads were cut off, only the last, an infant, had its Brains dash'd out.  The Negroe was the most obdurate wretch I ever convers'd with; for nothing that I cou'd say to him cou'd prevail upon to own it to be wrong!"

Newspaper:

Maryland Gazette, 2/7/1754:  dtl Wmsb, VA, 1/18:  In Surry Co., "last Monday . . . One Hyde being out in the Fields along with a Negro Fellow belonging to him, to whom, for some Misdemeanour, he had given pretty severe Correction; the Fellow, watching an Opportunity, knocked him down, and afterwardds cut off his Head; he then went to the House, where was his Mistress, and three Children, all of whom he treated in the same barbarous Manner:  He was soon after taken, is now in Goal for Trial, and it is hoped will meet with a Punishment, equal (if possible) to his Defects."  dtl Wmsb, 1/25:  "The Negro Fellow mentioned above, that murdered his Master, &c., was hanged immediately after Trial, after which his Head was cut off, and his Body burnt."


Robert K. Headley, Genealogical Abstracts from 18th-Century Virginia Newspapers (Baltimore:  Genealogical Publishing Co., 1987).  OHS  MURDER:  Mr. Hyde of Surry Co. murdered by one of his negroes last Monday.  The negro, who was later tried & hanged, also murdered Hyde's wife & 3 children.  (Wmsb. disp. 1/18 & 25)  MG 2/7/1754; NYPB 2/25/1754

Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Jemmy

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Benjamin Hyde

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Benjamin Hyde

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Mary

Children:

yes, at least 3

Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Mary Hyde

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Benjamin

Children:

yes, at least 3

Occupation:

plantation mistress

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 3:  

Sarah Hyde

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


child

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 4:  

Cherry Hyde

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


child

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 5:  

Hannah Hyde

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


child

Literate:




Marital Status:

s

Children:

n

Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1760




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Charles Holdsworth, Jr.

VICTIM(s):
Robert Wearn


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  mansl


Term?:  5/1760


Court proceedings:  Accused of "Feloniously causing the Death" of RW.  pNG.  Witnesses:  James Carter & Benj. White.  Prisoner testified in his own defense.  fG.  To be tried by the next court of Oyer & Terminer in Williamsburg.  "But the Court being of Opinion that Prisoner is Intitled to give Bail for his Appearance and not to be Remanded to Goal."  Admitted to bail (CH, Sr., surety).  1000 l. lawful money of Great Britain.  JC & BW bound for 100 l. lawful money of Great Britain each to appear to testify.

Legal records:  

Surry Crim. Proc., SE 5/20/1760.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:

Surry COB, 1757-1763:  p. 24.  SE 7/20/1757:  Charles Holdsworth [no Jr.] presented for not fulfilling duties as surveyor of a road.  Nothing on Wearn or Hearn.

Accused 1:  

Charles Holdsworth, Jr.

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Robert Wearn

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1771




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Henry Collier

VICTIM(s):
Ann Grantham


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  2/1771


Term?:  murder


Court proceedings:  Jailed.  Witnesses:  John Wilson, James McCaw, James Adams.  To be tried "for the said Supposed Murder" in April at next General Court.  Witnesses bound to appear for 500 l. each.  //  General Court:  various reports.  Probably fG mansl, branded.



NOTE LATER WIFE ABUSE:  Surry County Court Order Book:  SE 10/25/1774:  459.  Henry Collier [planter] brought before the Court "for an Egregious Breach of the Peace and Dangerously Wounding his Wife."  Examined witnesses.  Heard HC in his own defense.  fG.  Jailed.  To remain there till he posts a bond of 10,000 l. with 2 securities -- for good behavior for one year & to appear at the next Grand Jury court "to answer an Indictment which will then be lodged against him for the baove Dangerous Wound, and that the Sheriff Impress a Guard to Watch this Goal, and in the mean time make applycation to have him Committed to the Publick Goal, On account of the Insufficiency of the Goal of this County."  [copied into wife abuse file]

Legal records:  

Surry Crim. Proc., 2/15/1771.

Newspaper:
General Court:  HOM:  Henry Collier m.


Indict. for murder.  fG of mansl.  Burnt in hand & 1 yr in prison.


VGaz,  4/18/1771 PD: 31  Mansl. acquittal in Williamsburg, VA:  dtl Wmsb:  T, yesterday, & this day, General Court:  


--Henry Collier, from Surry, for murder, guilty of manslaughter.  [VGaz,  5/ 9/1771 PD: 31  (& R 33)  burnt in the hand & imprisoned 12 months.]

Census:  

Genealogy:
Surry COB, 1757-1763:  


SE 12/21/1757:  48.  Henry Collier, witness for Wm Nicholson at the suit of Col. Francis Willis.


SE 2/21/1758:  52.  Thomas Collier pft v. Archibald Wager.  Debt.


SE 8/21/1759:  205.  Stephen Collier, among others, appted. inspector of beef, pork, etc.


SE 9/18/1759:  212.  Peter, a negro boy of Sampson Collier, judged 10 yrs old.  Casar & Filler, a boy & girl belonging to Henry Collier, judged 11 yrs old.


SE 2/19/1760:  227.  An indenture from Stephen Grantham & wife to Thomas Simon & his wife (Elizabeth, who relinquishes her rights of dower to the land & premises in question).


SE 6/17/1761:  290.  Thomas Collier v. John Angus.  Debt.


SE 9/16/1761:  303.  Wm Hux to payt Thos Grathum & Frederick George as witnesses for him against George Dawson.

Surry COB, 1764-1774


SE 1/17/1764:  2.  Stephen Collier appt. inspector of Beef, Pork, FLower, Turpentine, Pitch & Tarr, pursuant to Act of Assembly.  [& SE 9/14/1769:  197.]


SE 8/21/1764:  30.  Stephen Collier & wife v. Joanna Madera, administrator & dft.  Chancery.  Dism. at the Compl. cost.


SE 8/21/1764:  31.  Eliz. Collier, adm of John Collier, dec. v. John Angus, dft.  Debt.  Dism, plf fails to pros.


SE 7/16/1765:  69.  Bailey Cross to pay Henry Collier & Lewis Pulley as witnesses for "them" agst. Cockes Cross.


SE 11/18/1766:  102.  John Collier appted. constable.


SE 4/22/1767:  112.  Henry Collier v. Thomas Bailey, adm & with the will annexed of Robert Watkins, dft.  Debt.  [John Dixon & John Tazwell, surviving executors of Jos. Royle, have a separate suit agst the same dft.]


SE 11/17/1767:  137.  On motion of John Collier, appted. administration of estate of John Collier, dec.  Entered bond.


SE 11/17/1767:  137.  On motion of Ann Collier, granted administration of estate of Benj. Collier, dec.  Entered Bond.  Appraisers appted to value the estate.


SE 6/20/1769:  186.  Mary Collier chose Robert Andrews to be her guardian.


SE 4/17/1770:  208.  Eliz. & Benj. Collier, executors of Thos Collier, deceased v. John Angus, dft.  Debt.


SE 5/15/1770:  217.  Wm Browne, John Watkins, & Wm Browne to lay off & set apart Lucy Colliers dower of land and slaves of John Collier, dec., her late husband, & report to the court.


SE 7/17/1770:  219.  Nicholas Cryer, John Bartle, John Watkins, Sr. & Thos Collier to appraise the personal estate & slaves of Ann Collier, dec.


SE 11/19/1771:  271.  John Watkins, John Watkins, Jr., John Bartle, & Nicholas Cryer to appraise the part of the estate of Thos Collier that lies in Surry Co.  Wm Simmons, Jas Moore, Benj. Clifton, & John Mecum to appraise the part that lies in Southampton Co.


SE 3/17/1772:  On motion of John Cllier, granted administration of estate of Lucy Collier, dec.  Posts bond.


SE 3/17/1772:  Sturn Collier v. John Dewell.  Tresspass, vi et armes.  Suit abates, the dft "being no inhabitant."


SE 6/23/1772:  302.  Lampson Collier v. Edward Avery.  In case.  Suit abates, the dft "being no inhabitant."


SE 7/28/1772:  317, 319.  Stephen Collier v. Stephen Sorsby.  In case.  Jury.  Found for dft.  False clamor.  5s. damages & c. to dft.  SC to pay Stephen & Hannah Jordon for appearing as witnesses on his behalf.


SE 7/28/1772:  320.  Stephen Graytham appted. surveyor of the Glebe Road.


SE 10/27/1772:  329.  Stephen Collier v. Stephen Sorsby.  By petition.  Suit ordered dism.


SE 12/22/1772:  338.  Samuel & George Kerrs v. Stephen Collier.  Debt.


SE 1/26/1773:  341.  Lewis Collier v. Stephen Jodran.  Trespass, assault & battery.  Dism, dft. to pay c.


SE 4/28/1773:  360.  Stephen Collier v. James Dewell.  Treapass, viet armis.  Suit ordered dism.


SE 9/28/1773:  399.  Samuel & George Keer v. Stephen Collier & Nathaniel Andrews.  Debt on a Replyvy Bond.  jdgt agst dft.  14l. 4s. 3p.


SE 11/24/1773:  406.  Sampson Collier v. Edward Avery.  IN case.  Jury.  Found for plf.  8l. 8s. & .5p damages & costs.


SE 8/26/1777:  43.  Dinah Collier, relict of Henry Collier, dec., appeared in Court & relinquished all right & benefit which she might have or claim in and to the last will & testament of her deceased husband's estate.


SE 12/23/1777:  48.  DC asks that her dower be laid off & set apart from HC's estate.  Approved.

Accused 1:  

Henry Collier

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Dinah

Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Ann Grantham

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1774




SUR

CT

Class:   possible

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
William Thorpe

VICTIM(s):
___ Thorpe (his wife)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  suspected of murdering his wife

Inquest:  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  3/1774


Court proceedings:  Jailed.  Witnesses examined.  Dft heard in his own defense.  fNG.  Discharged.

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 3/2/1774

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Surry COB, 1764-1774:  


20:  SE 6/19/1764:  ABSENTING HIMSELF FROM DIVINE SERVICE:  King v. Wm Thorpe.  Presented by grand jury.  Did not appear.  5s. fine to be paid to church wardens of Southwark Parish & costs.


65:  SE 6/18/1765:  Wm. Thrope v. Thomas Willis, chancery.  Settled by arbitrators.  23l. 17s. & 2p. to WT.


71:  SE 8/20/1765:  Wm Barnes to pay Wm Warren & Richard Thorpe for appearing as witnesses agst Bartlet.


73:  SE 8/21/1765:  Wm Thorpe & Elizabeth his wife v. John Ingram.  In case.  Jury.  Found for plfs, 40s. & c.


81:  SE 9/17/1765:  Wm Thorpe v. Wm Seward.  Attachment granted at last Court.  Sheriff seized one mug of the dft's estate.  Dft does not appear.  Plf to recover 5l. 6s. 9.5p.


262-3:  SE 7/16/1771:  John Lucas to pay Elizabeth & Wm Thorpe as witness for him at suit of John Maddera.


312:  SE 6/24/1772:  A&B:  King v. Joseph Cheatham for assault on Wm Thorpe.  Jury.  dft fG.  10l. fine & costs.


312:  SE 6/24/1772:  A&B civil:  Wm Thorpe v. Joseph Cheatham.  Parties came by their attys.  Jury.  dft fG.  Damages of 10l. & c.


313:  SE 6/24/1772:  Joseph Cheatham to pay Wm Thorpe as a witness for the King against Jos. Cheatham.


418:  SE 1/25/1774:  Wm Thrope jailed "as a Common disturber of the Peace and a person of Lude Lip."  Brought before court.  Sundry witnesses examined.  Ordered to remain in jail till he posts a 100l. bond for his good behavior for 1 yr.


450:  SE 4/27/1774:  KILLING HOGS:  King v. Wm Thorpe.  Presented by grand jury for killing two hogs, the property of Wm Davis.  Both parties came by their attys.  Jury.  Dft fG.  10l. fine & costs.

Surry COB 1775-1785


4:  SE 5/23/1775:  Appraisal of the money (& slaves, if any) of the estate of Wm Thorpe, dec'd.


380:  SE 10/24/1784.  Joseph Thorpe, administrator of Wm Thorpe, dec'd.  Writ of Scire Facias.  Suing to recover the judgments of 1772 against Joseph Cheatham from the estate of Joseph Cheatham.

Accused 1:  

William Thorpe

Ethnicity:

English

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m

Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


Southwark Parish, SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___ Thorpe

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Williams

Children:




Occupation:

[plantation mistress]

Town:


Southwark Parish, SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1786, March 8




SUR

INQ

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by MASTER

Motive:  PUNISHMENT / RESISTANCE to punishment

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
6pm

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Nathaniel Harrison

VICTIM(s):
Jack (a slave of Nathaniel Harrison)


Weapon:  beaten with a stick and then whipped with a cowhide.  d. 6 hrs. after punished, c. 10pm or 11pm.


Circumstances:  at NH's plantation.  NH was in the yard "and called to him his negro man Jack who was in the spinning room, when he appeared he told him he would flog him and that was a word for all for for disobeying his orders in going into that room when he had so often forbid him."  Jack grappled with NH, collared him, and grabbed his hair.  Witness Mary Williams testified that "she thinks Jack threw his Master as they both fell to the ground together and Jacks leg wasover his Master, whilst on the ground Jack took" from NH "a small dogwood stick that was brought to him by a little boy in order to correct him with."  Two little boys interfered, which gave NH an opportunity to strike Jack 2 or 3 times with a stick.  NH later whipped Jack with a cowhide.


Inquest:  i.d. 3/11/1786, Wm Boyce, cor.  Verdict:  "accidental homicide six hours after correction from his said Master not wilfully maliciously or designedly done."


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Surry County files


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MANSL:  id 3/11/1786, Wm Boyce, cor. on Jack, a negro man slave of Nathaniel Harrison.  Testimony of Mary Harrison.  "accidental homicide six hours after correction from his said Master not wilfully maliciously or designedly done."


DEP:  Mary Williams [signed] (age 16).  on evening of 3/8/1786, wit. "came to the door" of the house of NH "where he then lived."  NH was in the yard "and called to him his negro man Jack who was in the spinning room, when he appeared he told him he would flog him and that was a word for all for for disobeying his orders in going into that room when he had so often forbid him."  NH asked wit. to bring him the cowhide, which she immed. did.  On her return "she found Jack and his Master engaged, and saw him stricke his Master, collar him, & fix his hand in his hair."  "she thinks Jack threw his Master as they both fell to the ground together and Jacks leg was over his Master, whilst on the ground Jack took" from NH "a small dogwood stick that was brought to him by a little boy in order to correct him with."  Wit. supposed "he would have overcome his Master, but for the assistance of two little boys that came to his relief after Jack got from the ground his Master struck him several times with the same dogwood stick which he had regained & after having done so he ordered Meckling one of his other negroes to carry him to the barn where he whipped him with the Cow hide.  Jack died about ten or eleven o Clock on the same night."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Nathaniel Harrison

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Jack

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Nathaniel Harrison

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1786




SUR

INQ

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM MANSL or CAS SUNSTROKE

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by MASTER who had hired him

Motive:  ABUSE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
William Boyce

VICTIM(s):
Phil (a slave of Kitty Bridges, orphan, and hired by William Boyce of Thomas Pierce, guardian of the said orphan)


Weapon:  [phys] negligence, sunstroke, whipping


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  i.d. 6/18/1786.  Josiah Wilson, gent., jp.  


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MANSL or CAS SUNSTROKE:  at house of Wm Boyce (gent.), id 6/18/1786.  Josiah Wilson, gent., jp.  on Phil, a negro of Kitty Bridges and hired by Wm Boyce of Thomas Pierce, guardian of the said orphan.  "we finds several wounds . . . occasioned by a whip but none of which appearing Mortal or in any Manner to Occasion his Death, but rather think it was mostly from the excessive heat of the weather and other misconduct in compelling him to do his duty but by no means designedly or intendedly to take away his life."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

William Boyce

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Phil

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Kitty Bridges, orphan, and hired by William Boyce of Thomas Pierce, guardian of the said orphan

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1787




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  JUSTIFIED

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
John Williams

VICTIM(s):
Richard Dixon Brown


Weapon:  unknown


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  bnf for murder


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fNG.  "upon consideration of the evidence of the Witnesses and the circumstances of the case . . . ought not to be tried for the said supposed fact."  Discharged.

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 10/26/1787.


[count] MURDER:  EXAM COURT:  John Williams, late of Nansemond Co. (waterman), charged with wilfully shooting & killing Richard Dixon Brown (tenant).  Charged with murder.  Divers witnesses.  Pris. heard.  "upon consideration of the evidence of the Witnesses and the circumstances of the case . . . ought not to be tried for the said supposed fact."  Discharged.  [[ruled justifiable]]

Newspaper:
Census:  

John B. Boddie, Colonial Surry (Mountain View, Calif., 1959).


Neither man on 1782 census of heads of hhlds.

Genealogy:
Surry COB, 1775-1785


145:  SE 5/28/1782:  Ordered that Richard Dixon Browne & the Negro tithables under him belonging to John Paradise, Esq. (Tom, Guy, Mingo, Fanny, Mima, Dinah, Feba, Eve, Daphney, Nanny, Sarah, & Milley) be added to the list of tithables taken last June (13 tithes).


346:  SE 6/23/1784:  John Williams v. Jesse Bryant.  By petition.  Plf appeared by his atty, dft has been served with a copy of the petition.  Did not appear.  Ruled for plf:  4l. 4s. with lawful interest.

Accused 1:  

John Williams

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

waterman

Town:


Nansemond Co.

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Richard Dixon Brown

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

[tenant farmer]  hired slaves to run a plantation

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1799, Apr. 11




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD MASTER by SLAVE

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Isaac (a slave of Freeman Ward)

VICTIM(s):
Freeman Ward


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  SE 5/4/1799


Court proceedings:  pG.  DEATH.  To be hanged June 4.  Isaac valued at 90 l. current money.

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 5/4/1799


EXEC:  HOM of MASTER by SLAVE:  O&T:  MURDER:  Isaac, a negro man, property of Freeman Ward, dec'd.  Charged with feloniously killing & murdering the said Freeman Ward his master on Apr. 11.  pG.  "and Will a negroe boy the property of Robert McIntosh being first charged as the law directs, was examined, and on consideration of the said Isaac's confession and the evidence of the said Will it is the opinon of the court that he is guilty of the charge aforesaid."  DEATH.  To be hanged June 4.  Isaac valued at 90 l. current money.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Isaac

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Freeman Ward

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Freeman Ward

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1802, Apr.




SUR

CT

INQ

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    MARITAL WIFE by HUSBAND

Motive:  MENTAL ILLNESS / fear of insurrection by the slaves

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Colin Campbell

VICTIM(s):
Margaret Dunbar Campbell (his wife)


Weapon:  dirk knife.  stabbed her once below the left breast, .75" deep.  inst.


Circumstances:  at their house.  CC rose suddenly, took up a dirk knife, threw his wife on the bed, and stabbed her, while his brother William was in the room.  CC confessed "that he had stab'd his Wife at her own request for fear of the insurrection of Negroes & that he aim'd the point of the Dirk at her left Breast."


Inquest:  i.d. 4/25/1802.  John Bartle, Jr., cor.  Verdict:  fel., vol., malice aforeth.  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  SE 4/30/1802


Court proceedings:  fG.  To be tried at next District Court in Wmsburg.  

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 4/30/1802


HOM WIFE:  EXAM COURT:  MURDER:  Colin Campbell, planter, charged with feloniously killing & murdering his late wife, Margaret Dunbar Campbell.  Witnesses:  Wm L Campbell, Wilie Jones, John Willison.  fG.  To be tried at next District Court in Wmsburg.  Witnesses post bonds to appear of $500 each current money of Virginia.  Loose Court Papers.


DEP:  John Wilson (brother of deceased) [signed]:  on Sat. night, 4/24, heard that CC had stabbed his wife.  Wit. went immed. to prisoner's house & asked him "what had become of his this deponents sister."  "Prisoner remained silent, for some time, & then observed that he never would forget the deed he had done & there is the dagger or sword in the corner."  Wit. was called out of the house & was informed that wit.'s sister was dead in the kitchen.  Wounded under her left breast.  Returned to house & heard CC "declare that a drop of blood which was on some of the bed covering followed the dagger with which he stabb'd his poor wife."


DEP:  Wm L Campbell [signed]:  was at CC's house on night of 4/24.  Wit. "was setting in the house . . . at which time he saw" CC "rise from his seat, go to a table which was standing near him and take from behind a looking glass which stood on the table a small dirk, went to his wife, seized her and threw her on a bed as if to embrace her, at which time she called out upon this deponent in these words, "My dear brother William."  Wit., "being alarmed ran out of the room to the kitchen, in a few minutes after, perhaps fifteen, Mrs. Campbell followed this deponent, and desired a negroe woman who was then in the kitchen to take hold of her, that she should faint as her husband had stabb'd her."  A short time after, WLC was informed she was dead.


DEP:  Willis Jones [signed]:  on evening of 4/24, c. 10pm, wit. was awakened by Mr. Willson, who told him that CC "in a fit of madness had stab'd his Sister in the thigh" & asked wit. to go with him to CC's house "to prevent farther mischief."  Arrived & found CC on the bed.  Mr. Willson went into the room & inquired for his sister & CC answered "there is the Sword (or Dagger) . . . in the corner of the room."  Ditto's JW's dep. exactly.  When JW left for the kitchen, WJ stayed alone, "except for a servant," with CC till near break of day, during which time CC "discovered every Sympton of Insanity wildness of look no inclination to sleep or eat.  In the course of his paroxyms he frequentlhy attempted to go out but I prevented him.  He in the course of the Night observed that he had several Wounds in his side from a Dirk & observed that he supposed she was dead.  Upon my enquiring who was dead he made some incoherent answer which I do not recollect."  After the coroner's jury returned its verdict, CC confessed "(voluntarily) that he had stab'd his Wife at her own request for fear of the insurrection of Negroes & that he aim'd the point of the Dirk at her left Breast."


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at Colin Campbell's, id 4/25/1802.  John Bartle, Jr., cor.  on Margeret Dumbar Campbell.  on evening of 4/24, fel., vol., malice aforeth.  with a dirk.  stabbed her once below the left breast, .75" deep.  inst.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Margaret Dunbar Campbell:  sister of John Wilson

Colin Campbell:  brother of William Campbell

Accused 1:  

Colin Campbell

Ethnicity:

[Scots]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  
m. Margaret Dunbar

Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Margaret Dunbar Campbell

Ethnicity:

[Scots]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Colin

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1804, May
15



SUR

CT

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM SLAVE by SLAVE

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Norborne (a slave of John Fruleon)

VICTIM(s):
Jesse (a slave of Robert Watkins)


Weapon:  ax, severe injuries to the head above the ear & behind the ear.  d. 5/16.


Circumstances:  at Robert Watkins's plantation


Inquest:  at Robert Watkins, i.d. 5/17/1804, John Bartle, Jr., cor.  Verdict:  willful murder.


Indictment?  murder


Term?:  SE 5/24/1804


Court proceedings:  fNG

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 5/24/1804


HOM of SLAVE by SLAVE:  O&T:  MURDER:  Norborne, a Negro man slave of John Fruleon of Surry Co. charged with murder of Jesse, a Negro man slave of Robert Watkins of Surry Co.  The mitimus & inquest read.  pNG.  Witnesses:  Tillar & Molly (slaves of Robert Watkins), Anaca (a negro woman slave of James Adams), Peter, PAt, & Edy (property of John Fauleon), Robert Watkins, John Fauleon, John Bartle, Jr., Thomas Scammell, & Chas H. Graves.  "on mature consideration of the evidence of the witnesses and the arguments of COunsel on both sides fully heard, it is the opinion of the court that the said Norborne is not guilty of the charge."  Discharged.


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at Robert Watkins id 5/17/1804, John Bartle, Jr., cor.  On Jesse, a negro man of Robet Watkins.  Wilfully murdered.  From testimony of a negro woman (Tiller, a slave of RW) learned that Norborne, a negro man of John Fauleon, perpetrated the murder, severe injuries to the head above the ear & behind the ear.  CALLED COURT paper:  says that the murder occurred on the night of 5/15, languished & died on 5/16.  with an ax.  wit:  Tillar, Molly, Anaca (all slaves of RW).

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Norborne

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Fruleon

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Jesse

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m
Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Robert Watkins

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1806, Oct.




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM RUNAWAY SLAVE by WHITE

Motive:  JUSTIFIED

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
James Bell

VICTIM(s):
Austin (a slave of John Rogers of North Carolina)


Weapon:  gunshot


Circumstances:  capturing the victim, who was a runaway slave from North Carolina


Inquest:  


Indictment?  bnf for murder


Term?:  SE 10/28/1806


Court proceedings:  fNG

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 10/28/1806


HOM of RUNAWAY SLAVE by a WHITE MAN:  EXAM COURT:  MANSL:  James Bell charged with shooting Austin (a Negro man "supposed to be the property of John Rogers of the State of North Carolina" on Oct. 13, "of which shooting the said Austin died."  Witnesses:  John Judkins, Charles H. Graves, David Price.  Prison fNG of the charge.  Discharged.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

James Bell

Ethnicity:

[Scots]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Austin

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Rogers of North Carolina

Town:


NC

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1807, Jan. 12




SUR

CT

INQ

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    MARITAL HUSBAND by RIVAL

Motive:  JEALOUSY by victim over his wife -- victim started fight

Intox?:  

Day of week:
M

Holiday?:



Time of day:
daybreak

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Jemm [James] (a slave of the estate of Thomas Marriott, dec'd.)

VICTIM(s):
Abraham (a slave of John Hunnicutt)


Weapon:  knife to breast.  d. in a moment.


Circumstances:  at one of Mr. Richard H. Edwards's "Negro houses."  Abram came in and observed to Jemm "who had been in the house about an hour so you have brought my wife home this morning and said to him Dam your Soul this will not do and said he would try and make him leave the house."  Jemm denied he had been with Abram's wife:  "you have not seen me with your wife."  Abram went out, got a stick, returned, & kicked Jemm.  Jemm got up off his seat & stabbed Abram.


Inquest:  at the house of Richard Henry Edwards, i.d. 1/13/1807, Arch. Davis, cor.  Verdict:  malice aforethought, murder.


Indictment?  O&T, murder


Term?:  SE 1/21/1807


Court proceedings:  Court "being divided in opinion therefore the said Jemm is acquited" -- discharged.  

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 1/21/1807


HOM of SLAVE by SLAVE:  O&T:  MANSL:  Jemm, property of the estate of Thomas Marriott, dec'd, of Surry Co.  On Jan. 12, "stabed and kill'd negro Man slave Abraham, the property of John Hunnicutt" of Surry Co.  Witnesses:  Jim (negro man slave of Patrick H. Adams), Daniel, Jack, Edith, & Letty (negro slaves of Richard H Edwards).  Court "being divided in opinion therefore the said Jemm is acquited" -- discharged.  Loose Court Papers:


DEP:  Jemm, the property of Patrick H. Adams:  on Monday morning, 1/12, "he was at one of Mr. Richard H. Edwards's Negro houses," & about daybreak, the dft. came into the house where Abram was.  "Abram then asked him if that was a time to bring Hannah, his wife home, the said Jemm replied that he did not bring her home.  . . . Abram then ordered the said James [?] to go out, which he refused, Abram then replied if you do not I will make you, & immediately went out, & shortley after return'd with a stick and came towards the said Jemm, who rose from his seat, at which time Abram kicked the said Jemm, and then . . . Jemm "moved up to him with his right arm extended," & as Abram "steped back kept up to him until he supposes the wound was given, after which" Jemm returned to the fire, & then wit. saw the knife in Jemm's left hand.  About the time Jemm came back to the fire, Abram went out, "but soon returned & observed" to Jemm "that he had stabbed him to which" Jemm "made no reply."


DEP:  Edith, prop. of Richard H Edwards.  Wit. was standing at her room door about daybreak on Monday morning when Abram came in & observed to Jemm "who had been in the house about an hour so you have brought my wife home this morning and said to him Dam your Soul this will not do and said he would try and make him leave the house."  Ditto from there.


DEP:  Daniel, prop. of Richard H Edwards.  was sitting in one of the houses by a fire with James & others when Abram came in.  Ditto.  "you dam rascal is this the time that you bring my wife home to which" James replied "you have not seen me with your wife."  Ditto.


DEP:  Jack, prop. of RHE.  Heard the "a racket" at Daniel's house & immed. went there, but before he got there he heard Abram say to James "you have stabed at me."  Saw Hannah standing between Abram & James & "ordered her to quit which she refused and this deponant then came off after his overseer."


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at the house of Richard Henry Edwards, id 1/13/1807, Arch. Davis, cor.  on Abram, negro slave of John Hunnicutt.  Jemm, a negro man of estate of Thos Marriott, dec.  on 1/12, malice aforethought, with knife, to breast, d. in a moment.  murder.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Jemm [James]

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of the estate of Thomas Marriott, dec'd.

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Abraham

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Hannah

Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Hunnicutt

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1807, March




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
Isaac (a slave of Joseph Heath)


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  [at Mrs. Ann C. Locke's]


Inquest:  at Mrs. Ann C. Locke's, i.d. 3/1/1807, Arch. Davis, cor.  Verdict:  "certain persons unknown did kill and murder" Isaac & then "did fly away."


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at Mrs. Ann C. Locke's, id 3/1/1807, Arch. Davis, cor.  on Isaac, a negro man of Jos. Heath.  "certain persons unknown did kill and murder" Isaac & then "did fly away."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Isaac

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Joseph Heath

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1807, March




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
Richard Pagett [Dagett?  Bagett?]


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  [at William Jones's plantation]


Inquest:  at William Jones's plantation, i.d. 3/9/1808, Arch. Davis, cor.  Verdict:  that a certain person or persons unknown did kill & murder" RP.  & then "fly away."


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at William Jones's plantation, i.d. 3/9/1808, Arch. Davis, cor.  on Richard Pagett [Dagett?  Bagett?]  "that a certain person or persons unknown did kill & murder" RP.  & then "fly away."  

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Richard Pagett [Dagett?  Bagett?]

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1809, August 26




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL b/w friends

Intox?:  yes, TMJ, and prob. HS too

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Henry Sheffield

VICTIM(s):
Thomas M. Johnson


Weapon:  HS shoved TMJ out of the house.  Caused TMH "to fall backwards on the earth & by the fall received a wound."  d. morning of 8/27.  


Circumstances:  at house of Edward Marks.  HS said after throwing TMJ out of the house "God dam him; he might lie there."


Inquest:  at house of Edward Marks, i.d. 8/28/1809, James D Edwards, cor.  Verdict:  Henry Sheffield placed his hands against the body of TMJ & "there casually and by misfortune and against the will" of HS "gave him a shove which caused him to fall backwards on the earth & by the fall received a wound."  d. morning of 8/27.  "Came to his death by means of one Henry Sheffield, yeoman."  


Indictment?  bnf for mansl.


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MANSL:  at house of Edward Marks, id 8/28/1809, James D Edwards, cor.  on Thomas M Johnson, yeoman.  On night of 8/26 at the house of EM, Henry Sheffield placed his hands against the body of TMJ & "there casually and by misfortune and against the will" of HS "gave him a shove which caused him to fall backwards on the earth & by the fall received a wound."  d. morning of 8/27.  "Came to his death by means of one Henry Sheffield, yeoman."  $250 b. to appear.  Wit:  Silas Marks, David Emery, Daniel Marks, Green Emery, John Cocke, Hamlin Bishop.


DEP:  David Emery [X]:  at the house of EM on night of 8/26 "and heard a dispute arise between" TMJ & HS.  "that previous to this the greatest harmony has subsisted between them, that he saw the decd lying out of the house on his back and the said Sheffield in the act of gaining his equilibriam, as if he had just shoved the decd out of the house."  decd. was taken & carried into the house & d. next morning.


DEP:  Green Emery [signed]:  "a little dispute" b/w HS & TMJ.  TMJ "stunned" by his fall out of the house.  HS said after throwing him out of the house "God dam him; he might lie there."


DEP:  Daniel Marks (nephew of Edward Marks) [signed]:  at the house.  "a little dispute."  "Johnson seized"  HS "and he to extricate himself gave" TMJ "a little shove."  TMJ "being intoxicated fell backwards out of the house."


DEP:  John Cocke [signed]:  "hearing the fracas in the adjoining apartment he entered it and found" TMJ on the ground on his back & heard HS "say he might lie there, that he would not help him up."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Henry Sheffield

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Thomas M. Johnson

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:




"yeoman"

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1810, Nov.




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
Kate (a slave of Sampson Wilson)


Weapon:  wounds & bruises on head & body.  [physical force, no weapon]


Circumstances:  [at home of Sam Warren]


Inquest:  at home of Sam Warren, id 11/6/1810, Chas H Graves, jp.  Verdict:  certain person unknown did kill and murder the said negro Kate by inflicting sundry wounds, or bruises, on the head and body."  & murdered then "did fly away."


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at home of Sam Warren, id 11/6/1810, Chas H Graves, jp.  On Kate, property of Sampson Wilson.  "a certain person unknown did kill and murder the said negro Kate by inflicting sundry wounds, or bruises, on the head and body."  & murdered then "did fly away."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Kate (a slave of Sampson Wilson)

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1812, Aug. 8




SUR

CT

INQ

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by OVERSEER

Motive:  PUNISHMENT

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  1


SUSPECT(s):
Carter Harrison

VICTIM(s):
Roger (a slave of Col. William Allen, gentleman)


Weapon:  whipped.  d. M morning.


Circumstances:  at the plantation known as Wakefield in Southwark Parish.  CH claims that R pulled a knife when CH tried to discipline R for disobedience & R made several passes at CH.  CH struck R three or four blows, subdued him with the help of several slaves, tired R up, and whipped R.


Inquest:  at Wakefield in Southwark Parish, i.d. 8/11/1812, James D Edwards, cor.  


Indictment?  bnf for murder


Term?:  SE 8/25/1812


Court proceedings:  con't

Legal records:  

Surry Crim. Proc., SE 8/25/1812

HOM of SLAVE by OVERSEER:  EXAM COURT:  MURDER:  Carter Harrison charged with felonious murder of Roger, a negro man slave of Wm Allen, gent.  Dft. claims that Edward Maynard & Lewis Baugh are material witnesses for the defense.  Adjourned the examination until they appear:  CH to post $500 b. to appear.  Witnesses for the state:  James Douglas, Willis Lane, & Lemuel Harrison:  $100 b. each to appear.

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MANSL:  at Wakefield in Southwark Parish, id 8/11/1812, James D Edwards, cor.  on Roger, a negro man slave of Col. Wm Allen of Claremont in Surry Co.  On Sat. evening, 8/8, Roger "was apparently in good health," & on that evening, Carter Harrison, overseer for Col. Wm Allen, "inflicted Corporal punishment on him, that he putrified from the flagellation which caused his death, that he was found dead on the declivity of a hill yesterday, but from traces on the ground he was drawn thither, that the Jurors afreosaid viewed the body in one of the negro houses on the plantation.  Verdict:  CH "by means of the flagellation aforesaid feloniously killed and murdered" Roger.  Wit. for CH:  Wm Allen (gent), Frederick Stacy, Willis Lane, Lewis Baugh, Edward Maynard.  CH posted $500 bond to appear (Theoderick Harrison & Collier Harrison, laborers of Prince George Co., sec. -- all signed; & another $500 b., Wm Allen & Willis Lane, sec. -- all signed).  Wit. for commonw.:  Lemuel Harrison [X] & James Douglas [signed].

DEPOSITION:  James Douglas [signed]:  dec. worked on the road with him on Sat, 8/8, "was apparently in good health and fine spirits."

DEPOSITION:  Lemuel Harrison [X]:  wit. was "at this place" on Sat. evening when CH "attempted to flog the deceased, he the said decd drew out a knife and made several wipes with it at the said Harrison, that the said Carter Harrison having conquered the said decd he struck him three or four blows and then took him to a tree about thirty yards to flagellate him."  That the dec. found dead on Monday about 12 o'clock on the declivity of a hill near one of the negro houses.

DEPOSITION:  Willis Lane [signed]:  on Sunday last, 8/9, "he dined with Mr. Carter Harrison at this place, that he saw the decd upon a rains coming on, walk into the kitchen."

ADMISSION:  Carter Harrison.  "the decd having disobeyed his orders he attempted to correct him when the decd drew a knife and made several thrusts at him which he evaded by him manner of holding him [sic] that at length with the assistance of the negroes he subdued him, and gave him a pretty good flogging."  Dec. found dead on Monday, 8/10, at 12 o'clock in the declivity of a hill near one of the negro houses.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Carter Harrison

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

overseer for William Allen, gentleman

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Roger

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

a slave of William Allen, gentleman

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1814, March 2




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive: QUARREL over who was the "best man" / HONOR "damned rascal"

Intox?:  prob. both

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  14


SUSPECT(s):
Thomas Hardy


VICTIM(s):
Capt. Thomas Shelly


Weapon:  TH threw a brass candlestick, hit TS in the head, 2.5" above left eye, one mortal wound 5/8 ths inches deep, "and a fissure in the skull bone."  d. 3/16.  


Circumstances:  at Lemuel Ripley's Tavern.  "That a bravado conversation commenced between Hardy and the deceased as to which was the best man, which terminated in a fight between them, that the deceased whipped Hardy upon which they were separated, but hot words continuing the decedent struck Hardy again upon which Ripley the Landlord pitched Shelly out of the house into the piazza neck & heels.  That upon Shelly's coming into the house Hardy called him a damned Rascal which was returned by Shelly whereupon the said Hardy took up a Candlestick and threw at his head which caused a wound just above the left eye, from which wound a quart of blood issued pretty quick."


Inquest:  at house of the late Thomas Shelly, i.d. 3/17/1814, James Davies Edwards, cor.  Verdict:  fel. & vol. assaulted TS.  "violently, feloniously, and of purpose." Manslaughter.


Indictment?  bnf for mansl.


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  [np]
Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MANSL:  at house of the late Thomas Shelly, id 3/17/1814, James Davies Edwards, cor.  on Thomas Shelly.  Thomas Hardy of Isle of Wight Co., on night of 3/2, at Lemuel Ripley Tavern in Surry Co., fel. & vol. assaulted TS with a brass candlestick, hit TS in the head, 2.5" above left eye, "violently, feloniously, and of purpose" one mortal wound 5/8 ths inches deep, "and a fissure in the skul bone."  d. 3/16.  Manslaughter.


DEPOSITION:  Dr. Josiah Blunt.  wit. was called to visit the dec. on 3/4.  A fissure in the cranium, concussion of the brain, fever, numbness in the head with accute pain, & a partial "paralytic affection of the right side and convulsions which occured several times and became more frequent until death" on the morning of 3/16.


DEPOSITION:  Herbert Edwards.  On the night of 3/2, wit. was at the house of Lemuel Ripley of Isle of Wight Co, in company with Capt. Thos Shelly & Thomas Hardy.  "That a bravado conversation commenced between Hardy and the deceased as to which was the best man, which terminated in a fight between them, that the deceased whipped Hardy upon which they were separated, but hot words continuing the decedent struck Hardy again upon which Ripley the Landlord pitched Shelly out of the house into the piazza neck & heels.  That upon Shelly's coming into the house Hardy called him a damned Rascal which was returned by Shelly whereupon the said Hardy took up a Candlestick and threw at his head which caused a wound just above the left eye, from which wound a quart of blood issued pretty quick."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Thomas Hardy

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


Isle of Wight Co.

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Thomas Shelly

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1818, Aug. 30




SUR

CT

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  20


SUSPECT(s):
James (a slave of John Hunnicutt, Sr. [or Caufield Hunnicutt])

VICTIM(s):
Joe (a slave of John Wilson)


Weapon:  with a gun charged with powder & leaden shot.  Hit in the right breast, 3" below the nipple.  Mortal wound 6" long & 2" wide, through the lungs, languished until the evening of Sat, 9/19, & died.


Circumstances:  at Caufield Hunnicutt's


Inquest:  at Caufield Hunnicutt's, i.d. 9/24/1818, James D. Edwards, cor.  Verdict:  "feloniously, wilfully, and of purpose."


Indictment?  O&T murder


Term?:  SE 10/6/1818


Court proceedings:  fNG.  Discharged.

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 10/6/1818


HOM of SLAVE by SLAVE:  O&T:  MURDER:  James, a negro man slave of John Hunnicutt, Sr.  On Aug. 13 [sic] at parish of Southwark, "willfully and of his malice aforethought."  Assaulted Joe, a negro man slave of John Wilson of Surry Co.  Fired a gun charged with powder & shot at Joe, contents entered Joe's breast, 3" below right nipple.  d. Sept. 19.  pNG.  Witnesses:  John Wilson & Canfield Hunnicutt, & Lucy & gravella (negro slaves of Canfield Hunnicutt).  fNG.  Discharged.

Surry Crim. Proc., SE 9/28/1818.


[first charge in the case, before Joe died.]  MAYHEM / AIK / SHOOTING:  O&T:  James, a negro man slave of John Hunnicutt, Sr.  "Feloniously wounded, maimed disfigured with intent to kill" Joe, a negro man slave of John Wilson of Surry Co.  Fired a gun charged with powder & shot at Joe, contents entered Joe's breast & endangered his life, on Aug. 30.  pNG.  Arguments of counsel heard.  "the facts wherewith he stands charged, is no feloneous offence of which this Court can take congnizance."  Discharged.


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MANSL:  HOM:  at Caufield Hunnicutt's, id 9/24/1818, James D Edwards, cor.  on Jo, a negro man slave of John Wilson.  Jim, a negro man slave of CH, at CH's on Sunday, 8/30/1818, "feloniously, wilfully, and of purpose" assaulted Jo with a gun charged with powder & leaden shot.  Hit in the right breast, 3" below the nipple.  Mortal wound 6" long & 2" wide, through the lungs, languished until the evening of Sat, 9/19, & died.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

James

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Hunnicutt, Sr.

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Joe

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Wilson

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1819, August 2




SUR

CT

INQ

DATE:  check date again.  Probably 1819, not 1820

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [HHLD] SLAVE by [OVERSEER]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Thomas Lashley (aided and abetted by Archibald Clary)

VICTIM(s):
Peter (a slave hired for the present year by Archibald Clary of Chesterfield Co.)


Weapon:  gun, shot in the left shoulder, inst.  


Circumstances:  at the road called the Old Ordinary.


Inquest:  at the road called the Old Ordinary, id 8/3/1820 [sic?], Arch. Davis, cor.  Verdict:  before the impanneling of the jury on the spot, "the said body had been removed by some unknown person or persons, & to some unknown place, within the space of the last 18 hours."  Verdict:  murdered by Thomas Lashley, fel. & vol., fel. killed & murdered.


Indictment?  AC:  no, quashed.  TL:  no, fled


Term?:  SE 8/23 & 24/1819


Court proceedings:  TL:  fled

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 8/23 & 24/1819


HOM of SLAVE by WHITE MAN:  EXAM COURT:  MURDER:  Archibald Clary charged with being accessory before the fact to a murder committed on Peter, a negro man slave.  AC was out on bond -- appeared for examination.  $500 bond to reappear (Miles Burgess, security).  Material witnesses:  Wm Dowden & Isham Newell.  $100 bonds each to appear.


   Ruled that the Coroner "had without authority issued his warrant for summoning a Court, and that an accessary cannot be prosecuted before the conviction of the principal."  The warrant quashed.  Prisoner to be kept in safe custody "until other proceedings are had in his case."


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at the road called the Old Ordinary, id 8/3/1820 [sic?], Arch. Davis, cor.  on Peter, a negro slave who was hired for the present year by Archibald Clary of Chesterfield Co.)  before the impanneling of the jury on the spot, "the said body had been removed by some unknown person or persons, & to some unknown place, within the space of the last 18 hours."  Murdered by Thomas Lashley, laborer, of Southwark Parish, on 8/2.  fel. & vol. assault with a gun, shot him in the left shoulder, inst.  fel. killed & murdered.  [[no malice aforethought noted]]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  

Accused 1:  

Thomas Lashley

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

laborer / [overseer]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Archibald Clary

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Peter

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave hired for the present year by Archibald Clary of Chesterfield Co.

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1820, August 31




SUR

CT

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Th

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person or Burwell (a slave of Robert S. Hinton)

VICTIM(s):
Tom (a slave of Richard Hendry Edwards)


Weapon:  with an ax or some edged tool, hit Tom on the head, just above the forehead, malice aforethought, 4 mortal wounds, 2.5" long "which passed through the skull into the Brain," inst.  


Circumstances:  [on the bridge] that crosses on Chipoax Creek, Southwark Parish, near William Jones's plantation 


Inquest:  at William Jones's plantation on Chipoax Creek, Southwark Parish, i.d. 9/2/1820, Chas H Graves, jp.  Verdict:  murdered on Thurs. morning, 8/31, by a person unknown.  The murderer then "did fly away."


Indictment?  O&T murder


Term?:  SE 9/25/1820


Court proceedings:  fNG / probable murderer fled

Legal records:  
Surry Crim. Proc., SE 9/25/1820


HOM by SLAVE of SLAVE:  O&T:  MURDER:  Burwell, a negro man slave of Robert S. Hinton, "murdered" Tom, a negro man slave of Richard H. Edwards.  "the said Burwell being hampered with chains about his ancles the sheriff reported that he could not procure a Smith to take them off."  Diverse witnesses:  "there is no evidence of the said Burwell having committed the murder wherewith he stands charged."  But appeared the prisoner has been guilty of house breaking, ordered to be taken before a justice of the peace.


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at Wm Jones' plantation on Chipoax Creek, Southwark Parish, id 9/2/1820, Chas H Graves, jp.  on Tom, a negro man slave of Richard Hendry Edwards.  Murdered on Thurs. morning, 8/31, by a person unknown.  With an ax or some edged tool, hit Tom on the head, just above the forehead, malice aforethought, 4 mortal wounds, 2.5" long "which passed through the skull into the Brain," inst.  The murdered then "did fly away."


DEPOSITION:  Iris, a negro woman slave of Wm Jones.  dd 9/2/1820.  Said "That she knows not how, or when the deceased came to his death.  That Tom the decd came to her house late on Wednesday night, and left there early the next morning."


DEPOSITION:  Tillah, a negro woman slave of Wm Jones.  dd 9/2/1820.  "she saw Tom on Wednesday night, who informed this deponant that he had met some person on the Bridge who refused to let him pass, and compelled him to return, until he had passed the Bridge - but that he knew not who it was - That Tom left the house of his wife early on thursday morning - And that she saw nor heard nothing of him until she found him on friday morning in the water just below the bridge that Crosses the mouth of Chipoax Creek."


DEPOSITION:  Ned, a negro man slave of Wm Jones.  dd 9/2/1820.  "That the deponant on thursday morning early called to the decd who slept in the next room and informed him it was time to go home - and that Tom the decd immediately started.  That the deponant went out shortly afterwards and found he had gone; that he heard nothing of him until he was found dead."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:  
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

[m]

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Burwell

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Robert S. Hinton

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Tom

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Iris (slave of William Jones)

Children:




Occupation:

slave of Richard H. Edwards

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1823, Jan.




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [5]


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
Douglass (a slave of James Cheatham)


Weapon:  mortal wound to left side of head, & "did burn with fire the face and buttocks of him the said Douglas," of which wounds Douglass languished until ___ 1823 [day unknown], and died


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  at house of James Cheatham, Southwark Parish, i.d. 1/10/1823, Arch Davis, cor.  Verdict:  murder.


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at house of James Cheatham, Southwark Parish, id 1/10/1823, Arch Davis, cor.  on Douglass, negro man of James Cheatham.  some person unknown, on ___ 1823 [day unknown], mortal wound to left side of head, & "did burn with fire the face and buttocks of him the said Douglas," of which wounds Douglass languished until ___ 1823 [day unknown], and died.  Verdict:  murder.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Douglass

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of James Cheatham

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1823, June 11




SUR

CT

INQ

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by MASTER

Motive:  PUNISHMENT

Intox?:  

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
James Cheatham, Sr.

VICTIM(s):
Isham (a slave of James Cheatham, Sr.)


Weapon:  "by confining a large Iron Ox chain around his neck, by which . . . Isham was dragged from place to place by which he received various wounds and bruises and by other wounds received on or about the same time inflicted with clubs sticks, and various other instruments of which said mortal wounds, the said Isham Languished and Languishing died."


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  at James Cheatham's, Southwark Parish, i.d. 6/21/1823.  Archibald Davis, cor.  Verdict:  killed & murdered by JC


Indictment?  yes, mansl.


Term?:  SE 7/28/1823


Court proceedings:  fG.  To be tried before the Superior Court of Law of Surry Co.  $3000 b. to appear.  

Legal records:  
COB, 1823-5:  7/28/1823 (122-3)


EXAMINATION COURT:  MURDER of SLAVE by MASTER:  James Cheatham, Sr.  on 6/11 m. "his negro man slave," Isham, "by confining a large Iron Ox chain around his neck, by which he the sd Isham was dragged from place to place by which he received various wounds and bruises and by other wounds received on or about the same time inflicted with clubs sticks, and various other instruments of which said mortal wounds, the said Isham Languished and Languishing died."  To be tried before the Superior Court of Law of Surry Co.  $3000 b. to appear.  [[again the note:  "The Court called for the trial & examination of the said Cheatham failing to mee & There beign five magistrates present" they held the examination at the regular co. court.  AGAIN, SUGGESTS SOME FELONIES MISSING -- INDEED, PERHAPS MOST ARE MISSING.]]  


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at James Cheatham's, Southwark Parish, id 6/21/1823.  Archibald Davis, cor.  on Isham, a negro man, the property of James Cheatham.  That JC, the owner of Isham, on 6/9, fel., vol., malice aforethought, with an iron chain, clubs & sticks etc., "committed various mortal wounds and bruises in and upon the body, face, head and neck" of Isham, who "then and there died."  Killed & murdered.  Ordered to post $500 b. to appear.


TEST:  Nancy Cheatham.  "sayeth that her father kept the negro man Isham confined with a large ox chain around his neck two or three months or more & that the said Isham on Wednesday morning the 11th day of June Inst. with the aforesaid chain still confined around his neck, &c."  [end of the deposition]

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

James Cheatham, Sr.

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Isham

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of James Cheatham, Sr.

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1828, Dec.




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
Sam (a slave of John Peter)


Weapon:  gunshot


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  at plantation of John Peter, i.d. 12/24/1828, John N Spratley, cor.  Verdict:  "a certain person unknown did kill and murder the said Negroe Man Slave Sam by shooting." 


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at plantation of John Peter, id 12/24/1828, John N Spratley, cor.  on Sam, a negro man slave of John Peter.  "a certain person unknown did kill and murder the said Negroe Man Slave Sam by shooting."  the murdered then "did fly away."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Sam

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John Peter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1829, Nov. 22




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  QUARREL or FEUD

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Sam (a slave of James L. Wilson of Southwark Parish)

VICTIM(s):
Priss (a slave of James H. Woodley)


Weapon:  struck her with a pine poll.  Hit her on the head, skull broken.  inst.


Circumstances:  at the cabin of P & her husband.  The assailant demanded entry to their cabin at night, after they had gone to bed.  They refused & assailant broke down the door.  All stepped outside, heated argument between P & assailant, who struck her.  Her husband said "you have killed my wife his reply was he did not care if he had."


Inquest:  at plantation of Willis Wilson, i.d. 11/24/1829, John N Spratley, cor.  Verdict:  malice aforethought.


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  np
Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER / MANSL: at plantation of Willis Wilson, id 11/24/1829, John N Spratley, cor.  on Priss, a negro woman slave of James H. Woodley.  Murdered by Sam, property of James L. Wilson of Southwark Parish, on night of 11/22.  malice aforethought.  Struck her with a pine poll.  Hit her on the head, skull broken.


TEST:  Sam, a negro man of JHW.  "on the night" of 11/22, after wit. & his wife (Priss) "had retired to bed that Sam the property of Jas L. Wilson came to his door and demanded him to open his door, replied that he should not as he was in bed.  The said Same the property of James L. Wilson told him if he did not that he would open it himself and immediately broke the door open, that he and his wife Priss then boath got up and ordered the said Sam to go out and they boath went out of the door and his said wife Priss with the said Sam the property of Jas L. Wilson when there arose a dispute between his wife Priss & the said Sam, when the latter took from a pen adjoining a pine pol about nine feet long.  He the witness seeing this told him not to strike his wife Priss with it, his reply was never mind and immediately struck the said Priss across the head and knocked her down, the Witness then took his wife up and carried into the House thinking she would come too, but to his sad disappointment she immediately died.  The said Sam the property of the said Jas L. Wilson then returned and the witness told him, you have killed my wife his reply was he did not care if he had." 

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Sam

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of James S. [?] Wilson of Southwark Parish

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Priss

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:

m. Sam, slave of James H. Woodley

Children:




Occupation:

slave of James H. Woodley

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1829, Dec.




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
Booker (a slave of Richard Cocke)


Weapon:  shot


Circumstances:  [on the side of Chipoax Creek on land of Chas. F. Orsborn]


Inquest:  on the side of Chipoax Creek on land of Chas. F. Orsborn, i.d. 12/14/1829, John N Spratley, cor.  Verdict:  that a certain person unknown did kill and murder the said Booker" & "did fly away."  Murder.


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  on the side of Chipoax Creek on land of Chas F Orsborn, id 12/14/1829, John N Spratley, cor.  on Booker, late the property of Richard Cocke.  "by being shot that a certain person unknown did kill and murder the said Booker" & "did fly away."  Murder.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Booker

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Richard Cocke

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1830, Oct.




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
Jacob (aka Jacob Spratley)


Weapon:  [blunt] a blow near his left temple which knocked him out of the Canoe in which he was going up the swamp.  Fractured his scull and knocked him out of the Canoe.  Drowned him with the aid of the blow.  d. inst.


Circumstances:  riding in a canoe in Blackwater Swamp


Inquest:  at Walls Bridge on Blackwater Swamp, id 11/1/1830, John N Spratley, cor.  Verdict:  murder.  The person giving the blow "has fled and is also unknown to the jurors."


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER or MANSL:  at Walls Bridge on Blackwater Swamp, id 11/1/1830, John N Spratley, cor.  on Jacob, aka Jacob Spratley of Southwark Parish.  "by a blow given him near his left temple which blow knocked him out of the Canoe in which he was going up the swamp and fractured his scull and also knocked him out of the said Canoe and drowned him with the aid of the said blow he instantly died."  The person giving the blow "has fled and is also unknown to the jurors."  Appeared "by the confession of John Little that he passed the said Jacob within fifty yards of the place where he was found dead and floating on the water we sent twice for the said John Little to give testimony but cannot get him."  No goods of value.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Jacob (aka Jacob Spratley)

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:


[free black]

Town:


SUR
Southwark Parish

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1831, Oct.




SUR

INQ

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person

VICTIM(s):
Sally Berriman


Weapon:  drowned


Circumstances:  in Moore's Swamp at the Common Crossing near the plantation of John D. Lane and Elijah Holloway 


Inquest:  at plantation of John D. Lane, i.d. 10/22/1831, John N. Spratley, cor.  Verdict:  drowned by some unknown Person that the said person unknown after having committed the murder and felony . . . did fly away."


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at plantation of John D Lane, 10/22/1831, John N Spratley, cor.  on Sally Berriman of Southwark Parish.  "was drowned in Moores Swamp at the Common Crossing near the plantation of John D Lane and Elijah Holloway by some unknown Person that the said person unknown after having committed the murder and felony . . . did fly away."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Sally Berriman

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Southwark Parish

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1838, Sept. 21




SUR

CT

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by MASTER

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Willis Riggan

VICTIM(s):
Isaac ( a slave of Willis Riggan)


Weapon:  shotgun.  Shot through the leg "with divers leaden shot."


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, mansl.


Term?:  SE 9/27/1838


Court proceedings:  fG.  to be tried at next Circuit Sup. Ct. of Law.  Jailed.

Legal records:  
SE 9/27/1838 (v. 1833-1838: 624-5)


624-5:  MANSL:  EXAM COURT:  Willis Riggan charged with shooting Isaac, his negro slave, through the leg "with divers leaden shot, whereof he died" on 9/21/1838.  Wit:  James C. [?] Bell, Wm H Drury, Albert G Spratley, Harris Rogers, James Rogers, Patrick H Lane, James Lane, Edwin White, Alexander Faison, Mary Drewry, Caroline Drewry, James S Clark.  fG.  to be tried at next Circuit Sup. Ct. of Law.  Jailed.  Witnesses bound.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Willis Riggan

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

[planter]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Isaac

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of Willis Riggan

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1841, March 26




SUR

CT

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:
F

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening

Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
George W. Lane

VICTIM(s):
Robert Hasty


Weapon:  shot and cut the throat of RH


Circumstances:  in the hog pen of RH's plantation.  Anticipatory threat.  Told Mark R. Judkins that evening "that he was sick and that his disease would be the cause of the death of several others, he also in reply to some remark of mine said that he did not expect to die a natural death."  Whet his pocket knife at MRJ's.


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  SE 4/3/1841


Court proceedings:  fG.  to be tried at next Circuit Sup. Ct. of Law.  jailed.

Legal records:  
SE 4/3/1841 (v. 1838-1843: 216-217)


MURDER:  EXAM COURT:  George W Lane m. Robert Hasty, by shooting & cutting the throat of RH.  Wit:  Mary Hasty, Mark R Judkins, Jesse A Holloway, James Tynis, James Jones, Richard Rowell, Wyatt Lane, Arthur Holleman, Benj. A. Barham, Cornelius M. Ellis, Thomas B Seard, Edwin T Spratley, Martha Womble.  fG.  to be tried at next Circuit Sup. Ct. of Law.  jailed.  Wit. bound.  [Warrant for arrest:  3/27/1841.]

DRAWER 104:  files:  


DEP:  Polly [Mary crossed out] Hasty [signed] (mother of RH).  wit. was setting by the fire in her dining room & was alarmed by the report of a gun & "I said to my little Grandson who was near me and asked him if his Uncle Robert carried his gun with him when he went to feed his hogs his answer was no.  I then said what can that Gun mean."  On of "my negroes" came in & said someone had shot "her Master Robert and had not killed him and they are trying to kill him."  Ran out of house in the direction of the report of the gun & "I directed all present (my negroes) saying all of you that can run and if he the murderer has not killed him do not let him kill him."  By that time wit. got to Robert Hasty & she saw GL in the hands "of one of my negro men" & Robert said to Moses, "Moses, hold him."  Wit. asked GL what he did it for, & GL "answered I don't know what I did it for, and he told the boy if he would turn him loose he would give him five hundred dollars.  I told my servant to hold till some white person comes."  RH's right hand bespattered with blood, had a large 2-bladed jackknife in his hand [the knife belonged to GL].  "Lane told me to go way.  I told him I did not intend to leave him until I get that knife from you."  "My son as soon as I got to him said to me Mother look here George Lane has shot me and was not satisfied with that, but has cut my throat with a razor."


DEP:  Jesse A Holloway [signed].  Physician.  Tended RH w/in hour after RH was shot.  RH told him that GL shot him & that "no personal difference between" RH & GL existed "so far as he knew."


DEP:  James Jones [X]:  Heard report of gun, ran, RH told him the same.


DEP:  James Tynes [X].  That night, went to Mrs. Hasty's house, & RH told him ditto.


DEP:  Mark R Judkins [signed]:  GL came to his house Friday evening, 3/26 "and seeing a whet stone said that it was not often he saw a whet stone said that he would whet his knife," a 2-bladed jackknife.  "he said he was going out birding that evening and should probably not be at home that evening he said also that he was sick and that his disease would be the cause of the death of several others, he also in reply to some remark of mine said that he did not expect to die a natural death."

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1850:  no George Lane in Surry

Genealogy:  

Accused 1:  

George W. Lane

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Robert Hasty

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

planter

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1841, April




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
unk. man


Weapon:  [club]  blow to the right side of head just above the right eye by unknown instrument.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  at plantation of William R. Hawkins i.d. 4/22/1841, John B Graves, cor.  Verdict:  That a person unknown "did kill and murder the said negro man."


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Drawer 104:  4/1841t:  INQUEST:  MURDER:  at plantation of Wm R Hawkins id 4/22/1841, John B Graves, cor.  unk negro man.  Southwark parish.  Found dead.  That a person unknown "did kill and murder the said negro man . . . by inflicting a blow on the right side of his head just above the right eye by some unknown instrument."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1845, Oct. 19




SUR

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
Dick (a slave of ____)


Weapon:  shot


Circumstances:  [home third party]


Inquest:  at residence of Martha Organ, i.d. 10/30/1845, John B Graves, cor.  Verdict:  "a certain person or persons unknown, did felonious shoot, kill, and murder the said negro man Dick" at the residence of MO c. 10/19/1845.  The murderer "did fly away against the peace of the commonwealth."


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled

Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at residence of Martha Organ, i.d. 10/30/1845, John B Graves, cor.  on Dick, a negro man slave of ____.  "a certain person or persons unknown, did felonious shoot, kill, and murder the said negro man Dick" at the residence of MO c. 10/19/1845.  The murdered "did fly away against the peace of the commonwealth."

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1850:  no Organs or Orgains in Surry

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Dick

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1854, June 1




SUR

CT

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
Billy [aka Billy Rand]

VICTIM(s):
Peter Druil [Drew?]


Weapon:  unknown.  Mortal wound extending from his forward cross his left eye.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  at Low Point, i.d. 6/5/1854, John B Graves, cor.  on Peter Druil [Drew?], free man of color, resident of Petersburg.  Verdict:  "by the inflicting of a mortal wound extending from his forward cross his left eye by some person or persons unknown."


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  6/1854t


Court proceedings:  fNG

Legal records:  
6/1854 (v. 1853-1861: 74-5, 82-3)


74-5:  MURDER:  EXAM COURT:  Billy, aka Billy Rand, free negro, on 6/1/1854 malice aforethought, did kill & murder Peter Drewit, a free negro.  pNG.  con't.  [7/1854:  82-3:  fNG.  disch]


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at Low Point, id 6/5/1854, John B Graves, cor.  on Peter Druil [Drew?], free man of color, resident of Petersburg.  "by the inflicting of a mortal wound extending from his forward cross his left eye by some person or persons unknown."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths.  Not in Regis. of Free Negroes.

CENSUS 1850:  no Billy Rand or Peter Drewit

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Billy [aka Billy Rand]

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



free black

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Peter Druil [Drew?]

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



free black

Town:


Petersburg, DIN

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1854, Dec. 2




SUR

CT

FILE

INQ


CHECK:  Register of Free Blacks, prison records

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:   RELATIVE THIRD PARTY by BROTHER / intervening in quarrel between a brother and sister, protecting the sister

Motive:  QUARREL

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sat

Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  6


SUSPECT(s):
Richard Hamblin

VICTIM(s):
William H. Hughes


Weapon:  stabbed with a shoe knife in the left breast (d. 12/8)


Circumstances:  at house of WHH.  RH came to quarrel with his sister.  WHH tried to stop the quarrel and to take RH's sister back in the house, when RH stabbed WHH for interfering.  Subject of the quarrel b/w RH & his sister unknown.


Inquest:  at late residence of William H. Hughes, i.d. 12/9/1854, Jno B Graves, cor.  Verdict:  "by a stab with a shoe knife in the hands of one Richard Hamlin" on night of Sat, 12/2/1854.


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  SE 1/1855


Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG.  to be tried at Circuit Ct of Surry Co.  Jailed.  //  5/1855t:  fG of M-2.  10 yrs in penit.

Legal records:  
SE 1/1855 (v. 1853-1861: 107)


107:  MURDER:  FELONY:  Richard Hamblin on 12/2/1854 out of malice killed & murdered Wm H. Hughes by stabbing him with a shoe knife in the left breast (d. 12/8).  pNG.  fG.  to be tried at Circuit Ct of Surry Co.  Jailed.  Wit:  John R Davies & Rebecca Hamblin.  [Dra 9:  5/1855t:  fG of M-2.  10 yrs in penit.]  Dr 106:  file.


TEST:  Rebecca Hamblin [x]:  RH "came" to WHH's house "and commenced quarrelling with me, I said to him if he continued quarrelling with me I would leave the house and did do so.  W. Hughes followed me out and said to me if I did not go in the house he would slap my jaw.  Richd Hambin then step'd up, and said he would die by me and then stab'd Mr Hughes.  Mr Hughes said to him, Dick you have killed me and for nothing.  I believe Mr Hughes died in consequence of the wound received from Rich'd Hamblin."


TEST:  John B Davies [signed]:  on the night of 12/2, he was called to see WHH.  Found him stabbed in left breast b/w 7th & 8th ribs.  Shoe knife.  "owing to the bad condition of Hughes's system the wound showed no disposition to heal, a bloody scum issuing from the wound with erysipelatons appearing around the wound."  He lingered until the Friday following (12/8).


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at late residence of Wm H Hughes, id 12/9/1854, Jno B Graves, cor.  "by a stab with a shoe knife in the hands of one Richard Hamlin" on night of Sat, 12/2/1854.


TEST:  Rebecca Hamlin [X]:  on the night of stabbing, "Richard Hamlin her brother and she had a quarrel - and that W. H. Hughes directed them to stop their quarrel - He (Hughes) was not at all angry and that he had no harsh words with Hamlin - that the said Hughes ordered Rebecca Hamlin and took hold of her to lead her to the house and that the said Richard Hamlin did then and there stab with a shoe knife the said" WHH in the left breast.


TEST:  John B Davis [signed]:  wit. was called to house of WHH about 7pm that night & found WHH stabbed in the left breast about the 7th rib.  "he had bled a great deal but was not then bleeding much - drew the edges of the wound together with adhesive straps, applied a compress and bandage - was satisfied from the condition of the pulse that there was no internal bleeding - ascertained that he had been stabbed by one Richard Hamlin with a shoe knife, as Hughes himself asserted, in a day or two I found the system prostrated ordered stimulants for drink - pepper soups for diet - wound the wound open and a bloody scum issuing from it - this was brought on by violent coughing.  He complains only of soreness but no pain except when the ribs were in motion in the act of coughing.  Erysipilatons inflammation had set up around the wound ordered stimulating applications & I became convinced he would die.  Probed the wound after death and found it (the knife) had struck the ribs but had not penetrated the breast - mortification around the wound.  My opinion is that in a shattered constitution like his that the stabbing aided in causing his death - and that a man of healthy constitution would have recovered."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths

CENSUS 1850:  no Richard Hamblin.  Stephen p. 67 (hhld head, 30, black, laborer, no estate, cannot read or write).  also in hhld:

Delala Hamblin (35, black, cannot read or write)

Forstanna Hamblin (3, female, black)

Reilaline Hamblin (2, female, black)

_______ Hamblin (7 months, female, black)

Annaniasd Brown (40, male, black, laborer)

CENSUS 1850:  Wm H. Hughes  p. 63 (43, male, race is "checked" -- prob. a ditto from the mulatto above, cordwainer, b. North Carolina, no estate, can read & write).  in hhld of:

Eldridge Bailey (hhld head, 24, mulatto, laborer, cannot read or write)

Nancy Bailey (20, mulatto, cannot read or write)

Jim Williams (62, black, laborer, b. Va, cannot read or write)

Genealogy:
RH:  brother of Rebecca Hamblin

Accused 1:  

Richard Hamblin

Ethnicity:



Race:


[black]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



[free black]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

William H. Hughes

Ethnicity:



Race:


[mulatto]

Gender:

m

Age:


47

Literate:

y, can read and write

Marital Status:

[s]

Children:




Occupation:

cordwainer
no estate

[free black]

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:

North Carolina

Religion:




Organizations:



1858, June 16




SUR

CT

FILE

INQ

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD MASTER by SLAVES

Motive:  REVENGE for PUNISHMENT

Intox?:  

Day of week:
W

Holiday?:



Time of day:
evening, b/w 6pm & 10pm

Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
Madison (probably aided and abetted after the fact by Catoe [uncle of Madison] & Isaac [father of Madison]) (slaves of John W. Watkins, Esq., deceased)

VICTIM(s):
John W. Watkins (their master)


Weapon:  stick.  Mortal head wounds.


Circumstances:  at Chestnut Farm.  Found dead on a path in the woods.  Murdered after he had whipped Madison for failing to round up the cattle that were by the spring.  A brutal assault on M led to an all-out fight between M & JWW.  Madison then took JWW’s watch, keys, and knife.  JWW had whipped Isaac 2 months earlier for stealing.

Inquest:  at Chesnut farm i.d. 6/17/1858, T W Taylor, jp.  Verdict:  "caused by sundry wounds inflicted on his head and body by some unknown person or persons."


Indictment?  O&T murder


Term?:  SE 6/1858


Court proceedings:  Isaac:  pNG.  fNG.  disch.  Catoe:  charges dism.  Madison:  fG.  DEATH.  to hang 9/3/1858 (Friday) b/w 10am & 4pm. 

Legal records:  
SE 6/1858 (v. 1853-1861: 290)


291:  MURDER:  FELONY:  Madison, Catoe, & Isaac (slaves of John W Watkins, deceased) charged with murder (malice aforethought) on evening of 6/15/1858 of JWW.  Chas. B. Hayden, Esq., counsel for dfts.  con't.  [7/1858:  301:  Isaac:  pNG.  fNG.  disch.  Catoe:  charges dism.  Madison:  fG.  DEATH.  to hang 9/3/1858 (Friday) b/w 10am & 4pm.  Valued at $550.]  Dr 106:  file.


TEST:  Wm E B Ruffin [signed]:  sent for on Weds, 6/16/1858, 11pm. & was told that Mr. Watkins had been found dead on a path in the woods.  Went to JWW's house, got a light, went to body hoping to find some signs of life, but dead, "his face was sacr'd up."  Sent for a magistrate & when Mr. Taylor arrived they began their investigation.  JWW had been heard to call Madison "on the path not very far from the place where the body was found."  Madison's first statement was that Gilbert, a slave of Mr. Albert Jones, "who had been a runaway, made him kill him.  Then when he was told that that could not be so but that Gilbert was at home and at work all the time, he then said that there were two runaways passing far below, going towards Pleasant Point" in Surry Co. who murdered JWW.  When told that was improbable, Madison said that there was a runaway up by the mill who could have committed the murder.  But then confessed "that his master Mr Watkins whip'd him on the path upon the western side of the branch after whipping him his master went down the hill and ordered him to follow him.  That when he got near the foot of the hill at the top of a dead tree on the path side Isaac his father and Catoe [his uncle] were standing side of the path at that tree - that his master seeing them there asked them what they were doing there that time of day - that they replied that they had come to kill him.  That his father added God dag you that Catoe had a rope in his hand and threw it over his masters head and gave him a sudden jerk at the same time his father struck his master over the head with a stick and that they killed him."  When asked where his master's hat was, Madison said that it was hidden in the top of the tree, & he took wit. directly to it.  Says that Catoe took JWW's watch, who gave it to Abraham, who gave it "to the boys present" to keep for him, but afterwards Catoe gave it to Madison's mother.  Dft's mother denied any knowledge of the watch.  Madison's shirt was bloody -- said he had fallen on JWW in the scuffle.  The next day, Madison surrendered JWW's watch, keys, & knife.


TEST:  Travis W Taylor [signed]:  jp.  Found the body, mutilated about the head & face, seems struggle began some distance from where the body was found.  The negroes at the plantation denied all knowledge of the affair, "but a small black child who was present told Andy that he heard his master call Madison the evening before from the direction where the body was found."  ditto on all the stories, then finally Madison confessed that "he killed his master himself."  Met his master on the path, who asked dft. "why he had not gotten up the cattle.  He told him that he could not find them.  Masgter said I could and that he meant to give me a good whipping for not doing it and told me to take off my jacket.  He then told me to take off my breeches.  He then took a small rope from his heart pocket and tied it round my right wrist, he then told me to cross my hand I told him I could not, he said I should and pick'd up a stick and struck at me, the stick broke in two.  I then commenced jerking master and trying to get away from him.  His nose commenced bleeding, and bled worse that any body's I ever saw, I jerked him down the hill suddenly and he fell in the run of water, and while he was trying to get up I untied the rope from my wrist my master then got up and wiped the mud and water out of his face with his hand and started up the path towards his house.  His nose still bleeding and he holding his head very low down upon getting to the top of the hill I ran up and caught him by the legs and threw him down. . . .   he was so weak he fell as easy as a straw."  dft. "pick'd up a stick and struck him a blow over the head and repeated the blows several times over the head, and then punched him in the side and he (his master) roll'd down in the bottom still struggling & groaning.  He then took the stick and with the end of it punched him in the face until he was dead.  He then searched his pockets.  Took his watch his knife and his keys which . . . were found by Madison's information & direction."


TEST:  Madison:  ditto on his confession.  "I feared master would kill me as he said he meant to stab me, was the reason why I did not let master go when he got up at the run."  Says he was looking for the cows towards the spring when master came up on him.


TEST:  Riddick (a slave):  was sowing peas & weeding with Isaac in a field the day of the murder.  Says he found the tracks leading from where Isaac was working on the day that master was killed to the place where master was killed, some 700 yards away.  Certain they were Isaac's tracks.  Says that master whipped Isaac b/w 6 weeks and 2 mo. before master was killed, for stealing.


TEST:  Ben (a slave):  saw Isaac the morning after the murder.  Isaac asked Ben to tell Mr. W's son, who "boarded at the Tavern house" at Surry Court House.  Isaac said that JWW "looked as if he had been murdered."

6/1858 (v. 1853-1861: 291)


290:  INQUEST:  on John W Watkins, found dead.  T W Taylor, jp, acting cor.  [7/1858:  295:  appreciation expressed by the court for JWW, Esq., "one of its most useful members, and a gentleman entitled to their highest confidence and respect."  "deepest regret & heartfelt sympathy"  "profound regret" on hearing of "the sudden death" of JWW.]


Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at Chesnut farm i.d. 6/17/1858, T W Taylor, jp.  on John W Watkins.  "was caused by sundry wounds inflicted on his head and body by some unknown person or persons," b/w 6pm & 10pm, 6/16/1858.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths

CENSUS 1850:  John W. Watkins  99  Southwark TWP

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

Madison

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John W. Watkins

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Catoe

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John W. Watkins

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Isaac

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slave of John W. Watkins

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

John W. Watkins, Esq.

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

planter, gentleman

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1859, April 1




SUR

INQ

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:
night

Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person(s)

VICTIM(s):
unk. person


Weapon:  unknown.  Body burned.


Circumstances:  in a house at the mouth of Lyons Creek


Inquest:  at the mouth of Lyons Creek, i.d. 4/3/1859, Blair Pegram, jp.  on unk. person.  Verdict:  "they believe he was murdered on the night" of 4/1 "then placed in a house & the house burned with the intention of destroying the body."


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  fled
Legal records:  

Loose Court Papers, INQUEST:  MURDER:  at the mouth of Lyons Creek, i.d. 4/3/1859, Blair Pegram, jp.  on unk. person.  "they believe he was murdered on the night" of 4/1 "then placed in a house & the house burned with the intention of destroying the body."

Newspaper:
Census:  

Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1861, April 30




SUR

CT

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    HHLD SLAVE by MASTER

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  1


SUSPECT(s):
William Spratley

VICTIM(s):
Mary (a slave of William Spratley)


Weapon:  struck her in the head with his hand, wound of 2", d. 4/30.  A "great concussion."


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  at William Spratley's, id 5/20/1864, R B Spratley, jp.  Verdict:  charged WS with causing the death of Mary.  Phys. testified that the wound suff. to cause death.  WS came forward "voluntarily" before the inquest and "gave testimony."


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  5/1861t


Court proceedings:  5/1861t:  fG.  To be tried by Circuit Sup. Ct. of Law.  $2000 bond to appear.  //  5/1863t:  bnf.  disch.

Legal records:  
5/1861 (v. 1853-1861: 474)


474:  MURDER:  FELONY:  SLAVE by MASTER:  Wm Spratley on 4/30/1861 "by a wound inflicted on her head by said William Spratley."  to be tried by Circuit Sup. Ct. of Law.  $2000 bond to appear.  (Stith Spratley, E C Smith, Thomas W Ruffin, Wm Dillard, Jacob Fauleon, Wm H Spratley, sec.).  [Drawer 10:  5/1863t:  on 4/29/1861 m. Mary, a slave of Wm Spratley, malice aforethought, struck her in the head with his hand, wound of 2", d. 4/30.  bnf.  dism, 5/63.  wit. for Commonw: Wm H Pyland, R B Spratley, Louisa S Ruffin, M W Holt, E W Fauleon, Blair Pegram.]  Drawer 107:  1861t:  INQUEST:  at Wm Spratley's, id 5/20/1864, R B Spratley, jp.  Charged WS with causing the death of Mary.  Phys. testified that the wound suff. to cause death.  WS came forward "voluntarily" before the inquest and "gave testimony."  


DEP:  from a # of medical experts who gave their opinion that the wound to the head caused the death, even though the wound showed little external violence.  Post mortem exam. showed that the wound was fatal.  a "great concussion."

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1860:  Wm H. Spratley  p. 898  Cabin Point PO (hhld head, 32, farmer, $725 in real estate, $2000 in personal estate, can read & write).  Also in hhld:  his wife & 5 children (ages 1 through 9, the eldest of whom, a daughter, attends school), & Nancy Holt (45).

CENSUS 1860:  Wm H. Spratley  954  Cabin Point PO [only age 10, the son of Wm Spratley -- all whites.  The father, William Spratley, a farmer with $7500 in real estate & $12,000 in personal estate.  age 36, can read & write, hhld head.  hhld includes Roberta Y. Spratley (22, probably WS's 2nd wife or younger sister), WS's four children (ages 1 mo to 10 yrs), Louisa S Ruffin (45, $4000 in personal estate), & John Flowers (12, cannot read or write).

CENSUS 1860:  Albert 899, Alick 909, Amanda 921, Betsey 954, Chana 923, Chery 923, Cornelia 928, Daniel 903, Daniel 906, Elva 919, Georgianna 951, Jacob 928, James D. 928, Jennie 935, etc!!!  All Cabin Point PO

Genealogy:
Surry Reg. of Deaths [may not be the same person -- wrong month of death]

Mary (age unk, female slave of Wm H Spratley).  d. 9/1861

Par:  Dafney

b.:

Occ:

Mar:

Rep:  master

Accused 1:  

William Spratley

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


33

Literate:

yes, can read & write

Marital Status:  
m

Children:

5 ch., ages 2 to 10

Occupation:

farmer, planter
$725 in real estate, $2000 in personal estate

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Mary

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

f

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:

slave of William Spratley

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1862, Oct.




SUR

P

NOTE:  need to find original source and check its reliability
Class:   uncertain
Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM WHITES by SLAVES

Motive:  RUNAWAYS RESISTING CAPTURE

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
runaway slaves

VICTIM(s):
at least three whites


Weapon:  


Circumstances:  Jordan 177:  100 runaway slaves, including men and women, “thwarted efforts to recapture them, killing three whites.”  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  
Legal records:  
Aptheker, Herbert (1938) The Negro in the Civil War. New York: International Publishers: 24.

24:  October, 1862:  at least 3 whites killed in Surry County, VA, in unsuccessful attack on about 100 “outlawed” slaves—men, women, & children.  [NO SOURCE CITED]

Cited in:  Jordan, Ervin L. (1995) Black Confederates and Afro-Yankees in Civil War Virginia. Charlottesville: University Press of Virginia: 177.

Newspaper:
Census:  

Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:




Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:

slaves

Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

__

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:




Age:


adult


Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1864, Dec. 9







SUR

INQ


NOTE:  census done

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK [NONDOM]

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  [0]


SUSPECT(s):
unk. person

VICTIM(s):
Caroline H. [neé Macklin?] Slade


Weapon:  stabbed


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  at Miss Caroline Andrews, id 12/9/1864, on Caroline H Slade, by A P Baird, jp.  "from the affects of stabbing by som [sic] unknown person."


Indictment?  no


Term?:  


Court proceedings:  [fled]
Legal records:  

Not in county order book.


Drawer 107:  INQUEST:  MURDER:  1864-1865 terms:  

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1860:  Caroline Andrews 886  Cabin Point PO.  (hhld head, 51, male?, white, $300 in real estate, $30 in personal estate, can read & write).  Also in hhld:


Martha Macklin (70, female, white, can read & write)


Caroline H Macklin (21, female, white, can read & write)  [THIS MUST BE THE VICTIM:  MUST HAVE MARRIED one of the Slade boys & have been murdered]

CENSUS 1860:  no Caroline H Slade [probably Macklin!].  Edwin 889, Indiana 893, Jos. 880, Lucinda 893, Martha 905, Matilda M. 938, Wm 914, Wyatt 905

CENSUS 1870:  

Jos. Slade (hhld head, 26, male, white, keeps house, cannot read or write, citizen of US, b. VA  Guilford Twp.  p. 149.  Also in hhld:

  Lew Slade (27, white, laborer, b. VA, can read & write,

  citizen of US)

  Caroline Andrews (58, white, $100 in real estate, b. Va,


  cannot write)

Genealogy:
Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths [gap, 1863-1868]

Accused 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Caroline H. [neé Macklin?] Slade

Ethnicity:

[Scots]

Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


25

Literate:


y

Marital Status:

[m. a Slade]

Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1872, Jan.






Cobham Twp., SUR




VITAL RECORDS

DATE:  only date of death noted.

Class of death:   probable
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    UNK
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):
Littleberry Pittman

Cause of death:  died 1/30.

Circumstances:   “murdered”

Inquest:   


Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Newspapers:
Other sources:  

Surry County Register of Deaths, 1853-1896

MURDER / HOM:  murdered.  Littlebery Pittman (white male, 70).  in Cobham Twp.  1/30/1872

Par:  ___

b.    Surry

Occ:  farmer

Mar:  married

Rep:  M A S Pitman (wife)

Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Littleberry Pittman

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


70

Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
m. M A S Pitman

Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1872, Oct. 8





SUR

CT

FILE

INQ


NOTE:  search further.  Race of parties unknown, but prob. white.

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Daniel Williams, Alexander Harrison, James M Hill, & W M Swain

VICTIM(s):
Beverly Randolph


Weapon:  knives & other sharp instruments, stabbed in neck, throat, & breast, & near collar bone, 1 mortal wound 5" deep, inst.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  found lying dead near the banks of the James River, id 10/15/1873.  by J B Raney, jp.   


Indictment?  yes, murder, mal. af.


Term?:  11/1872


Court proceedings:  tb.  [526-7:  DW:  fG of M-2.  10 yrs in penit.]  [529:  AH, JHM, & WMS:  pNG.  Hung jury.  will not pros. further]  

Legal records:  
11/1872  (Surry COB v. 1862-1877)


524:  MURDER:  Drawer 109:  1872t:  

3/1873 (v. 1862-1877:  561)


561:  INQUEST / MURDER:  on Beverly Randolph.  by J B Raney, jp.   Did not leave sufficient estate to pay the expense of the inquest.  [5/1873:  568:  claims by Joseph & Sampson Howell for guarding prisoners charged with the murder of Beverly Randolph.  WHO WERE THE MURDERERS?]]  FOUND.  Drawer 110:  1874t:  

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1870:  no Daniel Williams, no Swains, no James M Hill. 

Alexander Harrison:  checked all Harrisons.  nothing.

Beverly Randolph:  checked all Randolphs.  nothing.

Genealogy:
Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths

Accused 1:  

Daniel Williams 

Ethnicity:

[Welsh]

Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Alexander Harrison, James M Hill, & W M Swain 

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Beverly Randolph

Ethnicity:

[English]

Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1876, July 16

SUR

CT

FILE


NOTE:  census done

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  [QUARREL]

Intox?:  

Day of week:
Sun

Holiday?:



Time of day:
morning

Days to death:  12


SUSPECT(s):
Paul Sumner

VICTIM(s):
Washington Todd


Weapon:  a blow in the side with a brick.  brickbat, threw & hit WT on the left side of body, broke ribs, d. 7/28.


Circumstances:  at house of Theopolus Butler


Inquest:  id 7/29/1876:  C W Leellin, jp.  verdict:  "came to his death from a blow in the side with a brick in the hands of Paul Sumner."


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  8/1876


Court proceedings:  tb.    Discharged his recognizance.  con't.  B. T . Durge [?] & Joel Blizzard, sec.).  $200 b. to appear.  Wit. for Commonwealth:  Nancy Davis, R W Danson, J A Parker, Charlotte Fisher, & Joel Blizzard.  Wit. for dft:  W D Warren, D B Spratley, Blair Pegram, W E Briggs, G W Moody.  [10/1876:  740:  to be tried by Cir. Ct. of Co.  $500 b. to appear]  

Legal records:  
8/1876 (v. 1862-1877: 728-9)


Drawer 12:  5/1877t:  7/16/1876 a. Washington Todd (black), fel., malice aforethought, brickbat, threw & hit WT on the left side of body, broke ribs, d. 7/28.]  

Drawer 110:  1876t:  file.


TEST:  Paul Sumner. "he threw a piece of brick at the deceased but did not hit him."


TEST:  Theopolus Butler:  on 7/19, Sunday morning, dec. came to "my house and said Paul Sumner threw a brick at him and struck him in the side, did not say which side, but did not hurt him."


TEST:  Charlotte Fisher.  Saw PS pick up a brick & threw it at deceased on 7/16.  Does not know if dec. was struck.


TEST:  Joel Blizzard.  PS "threw a brick at him [WT] on the morning" of 7/16 & struck him with the brick in the side but did not say which side, "he complained of his side Tuesday evening of the side he said Paul Sumner struck him in."  Weds. dec. said he felt better, "he told me he had a fall out of the door last Tuesday" 7/25.


TEST:  Dr. Parker & Dr. D'Anson.  death came from the rib being driven into the intercostal masda [?] causing inflamation of the lining membraine.  Injury came some 15 days before death & death & inflammation could not have been caused by the recent fall on 7/25.

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1870:  Paul Sumner (hhld head, 60, male, black, laborer, no estate, cannot read or write, citizen of US, b. North Carolina  Cobham Twp.  p. 108.  Also in hhld:

Betsey Sumner (44, black, cook, b. Va, cannot read or write)

Bertha Clark [?] (14, black, b. Va., cannot read or write)

Wm Whiting (21, black, laborer, b. Va, cannot write, citizen of US)

CENSUS 1870:  Washington Todd (hhld head, alone in hhld, 57, male, black, farmer, no estate, cannot read or write, citizen of US, b. Va)  Cobham Twp.  p. 106

Genealogy:
Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths

Accused 1:  

Paul Sumner 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


66

Literate:

n

Marital Status:  
m

Children:

n

Occupation:

hhld head, laborer, no estate

Town:


Cobham Twp., AME

Birthplace:

NC

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Washington Todd 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


63

Literate:

n

Marital Status:

n

Children:

n

Occupation:

hhld head, alone in hhld, farmer, no estate [sharecropper]

Town:


Cobham Twp., AME

Birthplace:

Va

Religion:




Organizations:



1877, Nov. 3

SUR

CT


NOTE:  census done

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    NONDOM

Motive:  UNK

Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  7


SUSPECT(s):
William Baine

VICTIM(s):
Timothy W. Atkinson


Weapon:  with a knife to left side of body, 1 mortal wound 4" deep.  d. 11/10.


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder, mal. af.


Term?:  11/1877


Court proceedings:  pNG.  con't.  12/77 (45):  request for change of venue to Prince George Co. because of local prejudice.  Overruled.  con't.  //  3/78 (63):  fNG.  [Drawer 12:  11/1877t:  Wit. for common:  J E Williamson, C M Wilson, J W Wilson, B F Williams, C A Freeman, G F Maynard, J B Holt, M M Ellis, Jno Harrison.]

Legal records:  
11/1877

39:  MURDER:  Wm Baine.  

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1870:  Wm E Baine in Prince George Co., Blackwater Twp.  (hhld head, 35, white, farmer, no estate, cannot read or write, b. Va.)  p. 158.  Others in hhld:

Indiana H. Baine (35, white, keeping house, b. Va, cannot read or write)

Rosa F Baine (6, at home, b. Va, cannot read or write)

Ann E Baine (4, white, at home, b. Va)

Meisadenia [?] Baine (4, white, female, at home, b. Va)

Robert H Baine (1, white, at home, b. Va)

CENSUS 1870:  Timothy Atkinson in Surry Co. (hhld head, 73, white, farmer, $3250 in real estate, $325 in personal estate, can read & write, citizen of US, b. Va, Black Water Twp) p. 89.  Others in hhld:

Mary Atkinson (48, white, keeps house, b. Va, can read & write)

Virginia Atkinson (17, white, at home, b. Va, attended school within the past year)

Mary Atkinson (15, white, at home, b. Va, attended school within the past year)

Genealogy:
Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths

Accused 1:  

William [E.] Baine 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


42

Literate:

n

Marital Status:  
m. Indiana

Children:

at least 4

Occupation:

farmer; no estate [sharecropper]

Town:



[in 1870 in Blackwater Twp., Prince George Co.]

Birthplace:

Va

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Timothy W. Atkinson 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


80

Literate:

y

Marital Status:

[poss. m. to Mary; poss. living with daught.]

Children:

yes

Occupation:

hhld head, farmer, $3250 in real estate, $325 in personal estate

Town:


Black Water Twp, AME

Birthplace:

Va

Religion:




Organizations:



1880, Feb. 25

SUR

CT


NOTE:  census done

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [MARITAL HUSBAND by THIRD-PARTY]

Motive:  [ADULTERY]

Intox?:  

Day of week:
W
Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  0


SUSPECT(s):
Amos Taylor (aided and abetted by Richard Holloway & Polly Newby)

VICTIM(s):
William Newby


Weapon:  [shotgun] gun loaded with buckshot, to left side.  d. 20 minutes. 


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  AT:  yes, murder, malice aforethought.  


Term?:  3 & 5/1880


Court proceedings:  [np]
Legal records:  
3/1880


235:  MURDER:  Amos Taylor.  remanded to the Circuit Court for trial.  Wit:  George Walsh, E C Smith, Geo Moody, Allen Newsome, Burney Newby, R T Marable, Jas P Dewell, Jos T Slade, Sam Bailey, Carter Charity, Eliza Newby.  //  Drawer 11:  5/1880t:  on 2/25/1880 m. Wm Newby, malice aforeth., Verdict crossed-out:  fG of M-2, 15 yrs in penit.


*  235:  MURDER:  THE SAME CASE:  Richard Holloway & Polly Newby.  con't.  jailed.  Wit. for state:  George Walsh (a bnf against him by the grand jury for murder); E C Smith, Geo Moody, Allen Newsome, Burney [Bunnie?] Newby, R T Marable, Jas P Dewell, Jos T Slade, Sam Bailey, Carter Charity, Eliza Newby; 5/80 (257):  & George Walsh.  //  4/80 (245):  wit. for dft:  J R Temple, J H Ellensworth, Carter Charity [on both sides!?], David Charity, Jos Wooden, & Collie Price, Dawson Bailey, & Chas Coleman; 5/80 (257):  & E R Harrison, George Charity.  //  7/80 (271):  RH:  np.  disch.  //  8/80 (282):  PN:  hung jury.  remanded to jail.  Another wit. for dft:  Geo Hines.  //  9/80 (289-90):  another hung jury.  remanded to jail.  //  1/81 (314):  PN:  fNG.  Drawer 112:  1881t:  FILE:  RH & PN abetted the murder of Wm Newby & procured AT to commit the murder.

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1870:  Amos Taylor (16, male, black, laborer, cannot read or write, b. Va  Guilford Twp.  m593 1680  p. 137.  


Lives with family of James Dial (54, white, grocer, $1000 in personal estate, b. Va, can read & write), & JD's wife & daughter, & two other unrelated laborers (22, black, male, cannot read or write, & 21, black, female, cannot read or write).

CENSUS 1870:  Wm Newby (32, male, black, laborer, cannot read or write, b. Va) Guilford Twp.  p. 132.  Lives with his children (wife absent or deceased, or living in common law marriage with Polly Scammel, which seems quite possible -- could Polly Scammel be Polly Newby!!!) in hhld of:

Polly Scammel (32, white, farmer, $250 in real estate, cannot write, b. Va).

John Newby (7, mulatto, b. Va)

Eliza Newby (4, mulatto, b. Va)

Bonaparte Newby (2, mulatto, b. Va)

CENSUS 1870:  other Newbys in Surry:  all blacks, as are the many Newbys in Isle of Wight Co.

Cynthia (28, black, Cobham Twp., p. 119)

Lucy (70, black, Cobham Twp., p. 109)

Virgina (50, black, Black Water Twp., p. 92)

CENSUS 1870:  Richard Holloway (hhld head, 30, male, white, farmer, b. Va, no estate, can read & write) Cobham Twp., p. 123.  Also in his hhld:

Mary Holloway (30, white, keeps house, b. Va, can read & write)

Cornelia Holloway (12, white, b. VA, attends school)

Richard Holloway (10, white, b. VA, attends school)

Jessee Holloway (72, white, physician, $1500 in real estate, $600 in personal estate, b. Va, can read & write)

Winney Cornwell (27, white, b. Va, cannot read or write)

James Logan (22, white, laborer, cannot read or write, b. Va)

Roland Logan (24, white, laborer, cannot read or write, b. Va)

Genealogy:
Not in Surry Reg. of Deaths.

Accused 1:  

Amos Taylor 

Ethnicity:



Race:


b

Gender:

m

Age:


26

Literate:

n

Marital Status:  
[s in 1870]

Children:


[n in 1870]

Occupation:

laborer 

Town:


Guilford Twp., AME

Birthplace:

Va

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Richard Holloway 

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

m

Age:


40

Literate:

y

Marital Status:  
m. in 1870 [is his wife deceased in 1880?]

Children:

at least 3

Occupation:

farmer; hhld head; no estate

Town:


Cobham Twp., AME

Birthplace:

Va

Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 3:  

Polly Newby [aka Scammel]

Ethnicity:



Race:


w

Gender:

f

Age:


42

Literate:

can read, cannot write

Marital Status:  
[common-law with William Newby]

Children:

[3 mulatto children with William Newby]

Occupation:

farmer; $250 personal estate

Town:


Guilford Twp., AME

Birthplace:

Va

Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

William Newby

Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]

Gender:

m

Age:


42

Literate:

n

Marital Status:

[common-law to Polly Scammel aka Newby?]

Children:

at least 3 mulatto children

Occupation:

laborer

Town:


Guilford Twp., AME

Birthplace:

Va

Religion:




Organizations:



1882, April 7




SUR

FILE

INQ

CT

Class:   probable

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    [HOUSEHOLD] ADULTS by CHILDREN
Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:
F
Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Mary Booth and Virginia Booth [probably sisters]
VICTIM(s):
Mrs. Clara J. Gray and Travis Jones


Weapon:  by administering poison (white arsenic in batter which was cooked into cakes)


Circumstances:  suspected

Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, MB & VB on two counts each of murder


Term?:  4/1882


Court proceedings:  6/82t:  MB fG of M-1.  DEATH.  to hang 11/17.  8/82t:  VB:  np.  

Legal records:  

MURDER:  Mary & Virginia Booth on 4/7/1882 by administering poison (white arsenic in batter which was cooked into cakes).  tb  for the murder of Mrs. Clara J. Gray & Travis Jones.  2 counts each.  Wit for com.:  R C Gray, E C Smith, W T Spratley, James [Jimmie] Jones, L B Spratley, B F Winfield, W H Taylor, G W Brim, Caroline Winfield, A P Bohanan, Peyton A Cocke, H J White, Margaret A Bailey, N D Price, Judith Varnice, John Winfield, Mrs. E C Smith, M T Marable, A C Garrett, W D Davis, J B Seward, C W Wilson.  Wit. for Mary Booth:  John Burman, Chas Clayton, James Booth, & Ben Booth.  6/82t:  MB fG of M-1.  DEATH.  to hang 11/17.  8/82t:  VB:  np.  Dr 112:  file.

INQUEST:  MURDER:  on Clara J Gray & Travis Jones.  R T Marable, jp.  filed.

Minutes, 1882-7:  SE 4/1882:  395, 397.

Newspaper:
Census:  

CENSUS 1870:  no Travis Jones or Clara Gray, or Mary or Virginia Booth in Surry

	Virginia BOOTHE
	Household

	 
	 
	Female
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1867> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	13 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Ben BOOTHE

	 
	 
	Relation
	Dau <Daughter> 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Guilford, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	68A 


	
	Mary BOOTHE
	Household

	 
	 
	Female
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1868> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	12 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Ben BOOTHE

	 
	 
	Relation
	Dau <Daughter> 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Guilford, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	68A 


	Clara J. GRAY
	Household

	 
	 
	Female
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1836> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	NY 

	 
	 
	Age
	44 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Keeps House 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Reuben C. GRAY

	 
	 
	Relation
	Wife 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	NY 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	NY 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Guilford, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	68B 


No match in 1880 census for Travis Jones
Genealogy:
Not in Reg. of Deaths

Accused 1:  

Mary Booth

Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

f

Age:


14
Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:

VA
Religion:




Organizations:



Accused 2:  

Virginia Booth

Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

f

Age:


15
Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:

VA
Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

Mrs. Clara J. Gray

Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

f

Age:


46
Literate:




Marital Status:

in 1880, m. Reuben C. Gray
Children:




Occupation:

keeps house
Town:


SUR

Birthplace:

NY
Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 2:  

Travis Jones

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


adult

Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1883




SUR

FILE

Class:   certain

Crime:   HOM

Rela:    UNK

Motive:  UNK
Intox?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:



Time of day:


Days to death:  


SUSPECT(s):
George Cox

VICTIM(s):



Weapon:  


Circumstances:  


Inquest:  


Indictment?  yes, murder


Term?:  6/1883

Court proceedings:  8/83t:  fG of vol. mansl.  1 yr.  Set aside.  new trial.  $100 b. to appear.  Wit for com:  L. B. Barham, J W Fuqua, Tony Brinn, Wesley Hughes, James Evans, Edward Green.  1/1884t:  pNG.  fG of involuntary manslaughter as charged in the indictment.  30 days in county jail & $25 fine.  2/1884t:  205:  could not pay the $25 & has “no estate,” so the court released him from jail after he had served his time.

Legal records:  
Minutes, 1882-7:  SE 6/1883:  79.


MURDER:  George Cox  tb.  116-118:  8/83t:  fG of vol. mansl.  1 yr.  Set aside.  new trial.  $100 b. to appear.  Wit for com:  L. B. Barham, J W Fuqua, Tony Brinn, Wesley Hughes, James Evans, Edward Green.  

Minutes 1/1884

194-5:  MURDER:  George Cox.  pNG.  fG of involuntary manslaughter as charged in the indictment.  30 days in county jail & $25 fine.  2/1884:  205:  could not pay the $25 & has “no estate,” so the court released him from jail after he had served his time.

Newspaper:
Census:  


CENSUS 1870:  no George Cox in Surry 

	George COCKS
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1860> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	20 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	William COCKS

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Guilford, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	64D 


Genealogy:
Accused 1:  

George Cox

Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]

Gender:

m

Age:


[23]
Literate:




Marital Status:  


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



Victim 1:  

___

Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:




Age:





Literate:




Marital Status:


Children:




Occupation:



Town:


SUR

Birthplace:



Religion:




Organizations:



1885




SUR
CT
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    UNK
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
E. J. Atkins
VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder

Term of court:  4/1885
Court proceedings:  8/1885t:  366-7:  fG of voluntary manslaughter, as found in the indictment.  3 yrs.

Legal records:  
Minutes 4/1885 (316-

320:  MURDER:  E. J. Atkins, tb.  321:  con’t.  5/1885t:  332:  con’t.  Witnesses bound for $100 each:  Gilbert Wooten, Robert Williams, Mathias Johnson, Sam Green, W. V. Howland, and Dr. E. C. Smith and P. H. Emory.  6/1885:  348-9:  con’t.  Gilbert Wooten, Robert Williams, Mathias Johnson, Sam Green, John Harrison, Dr. E. C. Smith, J. E. Farrell, James Dillard, William Dillard, James Platt, W. V. Howland, and Albert Williams bound as witnesses for prosecution.  George W. Rand, Joseph Wooten, William Taylor, Thomas Scott, Lucy Trusty, and Washington Arvin bound as witnesses for defense.  All $100 bond each.  7/1885t:  356-7:  con’t, new witnesses added (included above).  8/1885t:  366-7:  fG of voluntary manslaughter, as found in the indictment.  3 yrs.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

Emma J. Atkins in 1880 Census

	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1868> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	12 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	C H ATKINS

	 
	 
	Relation
	Dau <Daughter> 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Blackwater, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	13B 


	Ellezar ATKINS
	Household

	 
	 
	Male
	 

	 
	


	 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1868> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	12 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At School 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Junius A. ATKINS

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Cobham, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	33A  


Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

E. J. Atkins
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

[m]
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1885




SUR
CT
NOTE:  appears to have been entered in the record too late to be the victim of E. J. Atkins.  Was he the victim of George Druitt?  Can’t tell which, but assume it was one or the other.
Class of death:   probable / but do not count as an additional homicide
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    UNK
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):


VICTIM(s):
Allen Talern

Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   yes

Indictment:  


Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Minutes 9/1885 (369-

* 369:  POST-MORTEM EXAMINATION / HOMICIDE:  $25 to be paid Dr. E. C. Smith for post-mortem examination on Allen Talern [sp?], “supposed to have been murdered.”

Minutes 10/1885 (373-

* 377:  INQUEST:  MURDER:  Allen Talern.  A resident of Surry Co. with no visible estate.  Costs certified:  P. H. Emory, j.p. & coroner., J. H. Dillard, constable, William Dillard, George Evans, G. W. Coombs, William Edith, James Platt, H. J. White, jurors.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Allen Talern
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1885




SUR
CT
NOTE:  can’t tell if the victim was Allen Talern or perhaps Butler Parker, whose inquest was filed at the same term at which GD was indicted.

Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    UNK
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
George Druitt [sp?]
VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder

Term of court:  11/1885

Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Minutes 11/1885 (379-


380:  MURDER:  George Druitt [sp?], tb.


380:  AIK:  George Druitt [sp?], tb.  (2 counts)


383:  INQUEST:  on Butler Parker by L. H. Gwaltney, j.p.  Filed.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

GB:  No match in 1880 VA census

AT:  no match


BP:  a match

	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1853> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	27 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Farming 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	M <Married> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Butler PARKER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Self 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Blackwater, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	3A   


Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

George Druitt
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1886




SUR
CT
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    UNK
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Nelson (aka Bosen) Reed, Jr.
VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder

Term of court:  11/1886

Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
Minutes 11/1886 (467-


* 469:  MURDER:  Nelson (aka Bosen) Reed, Jr., tb.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

Bosen Read in 1880 VA census:  not close to Surry County – probably not a match
	
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1866> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	14 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Farm Laborer 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Bolling READ

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Lockett, Prince Edward, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255384

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1384

	 
	 
	Page Number
	357A    


Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Nelson (aka Bosen) Reed, Jr.
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1890




SUR
CT
NOTE:  victim may have been David Waldron, whose inquest was filed the session after the trial.

Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    UNK
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Oney Briggs
VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder

Term of court:  11/1890

Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG voluntary manslaughter.  3 yrs.
Legal records:  
Minutes 11/1890 (335-

336:  MURDER:  Oney Briggs, tb.  [10/1890t:  333:  had been arrested and jailed.]  339-40:  pNG.  fG voluntary manslaughter.  3 yrs.

Minutes 1/1891 (342-

* 346-7:  INQUEST:  David Waldron by William Dillard, mayor of Claremont.  No estate.  Resident of Surry County.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

No match in 1880 VA census.  Some Briggs in Surry are black & some white.
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Oney Briggs
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1894




SUR
CT
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    RELATIVE UNK by UNK
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):  Alonzo Hunnicutt 
VICTIM(s):
Arthur Hunnicutt

Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder

Term of court:  2/1894

Court proceedings:  3/1894t:  pNG.  fG voluntary manslaughter.  2 yrs., 6 mo.
Legal records:  
COB 1/1894 (150-

* 157-8:  MURDER:  Alonzo Hunnicutt jailed on a charge of murder.  $500 bond.  2/1894t:  164-5:  Bonds for AH, $500, and for witnesses for the prosecution ($100 each):  E. C. Smith, T. H. Butler, Robert Hunnicutt, Edmond Hunnicutt, George Washington, Walter Bean, Miranda Simmons, Nannie Burn [illegible], Moses Alexander, and James Lindsey.

COB 2/1894 (159-


161-2:  MURDER:  Alonzo Hunnicutt, tb.

* 163:  INQUEST on Arthur Hunnicutt by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.

COB 3/1894 (167-


171-2, 179:  MURDER:  trial of AH.  pNG.  fG voluntary manslaughter.  2 yrs., 6 mo.

COB 4/1894 (182-


183-4:  MURDER:  AH, motion to set aside verdict.  Denied.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  
A. Hunnicutt in Surry County, 1880 census:  2 entries
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1856> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	24 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Sailor 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	H. C. PALMER

	 
	 
	Relation
	Other 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Cobham, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	19B   


	
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1865> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	15 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Laborer 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	B <Black> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Palmer JACOBS

	 
	 
	Relation
	Other 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Cobham, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	22D  


Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Alonzo Hunnicutt 
Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Arthur Hunnicutt
Ethnicity:



Race:


[b]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1894, Feb. 





SUR
CT





VITAL RECORDS

DATE:  died on 2/7

Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    NONDOM
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Richard Bailey
VICTIM(s):
Walter Anderson

Cause of death:  “shot”

Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder

Term of court:  2/1894

Court proceedings:  5/1894t:  pNG.  fG M-2.  15 yrs.
Legal records:  
COB 2/1894 (159-


161-2:  MURDER:  Richard Bailey, tb.


165-6:  MURDER:  Richard Bailey remanded to jail.

COB 3/1894 (167-


168:  MURDER:  Richard Bailey, tb.

174-5:  MURDER:  RB con’t.  Bonds for witnesses ($100 each):  E. C. Smith, John Motley, Ambrose Timkins, James Baxter, Junius Saunders, Willie Ruffin, Frank Jones, Martha Burrell, Vic Graves, Belle Epps, Annie Motley, Burrell Robinson.

COB 4/1894 (182-

185-6:  MURDER:  RB con’t.  Bonds for witnesses for the defense, $100 each.  George W. Bailey (name listed 3 times – different people?), Edward Ridley, Willie Johnson, Johnnie Dillard, John Burn [illegible], Henrietta Byrd, Docie Robinson, Joe Holmes, Ben King, Mary F. King, Pleasant Burwell, James Lindsey.

COB 5/1894 (195-


200-2, 206-7:  MURDER:  RB’s trial.  pNG.  fG M-2.  15 yrs.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  

Surry County Register of Deaths, 1853-1896
Census:  
Genealogy:  


WA:  son of Christopher and Lucy; nephew of Robert Whittaker

No clear match, but all 13 Andersons in Surry County in 1880 census were black

Richard Bailey

	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1858> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	22 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At Home 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	George A. BAILEY

	 
	 
	Relation
	Son 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Guilford, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	72D 


Suspect:  

Richard Bailey
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


36
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Walter Anderson
Ethnicity:



Race:


b
Gender:

m
Age:


17
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
s
Children:



Occupation:

farmer
Town:


SUR
Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1894




SUR
CT
Class of death:   possible
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    UNK
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:


Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  


SUSPECT(s):
Claude L. Brock
VICTIM(s):



Cause of death:  


Circumstances:   

Inquest:   


Indictment:  none recorded [bnf]

Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  charged with murder, 9/1894
Legal records:  
COB 9/1894 (226-


227:  MURDER:  Claude L. Brock charged with murder.  A bill for costs.

COB 1/1895 (253-


258:  MURDER:  CLB, costs.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

Not in 1880 census
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

Claude L. Brock
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:



Age:




Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1896, Sept. 7




SUR
CT
INQ
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    NONDOM
Motive:  
PROPERTY
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
M
Holiday?:


Time of day:
evening
Days until death:  0

SUSPECT(s):
William F. Parkerson
VICTIM(s):
Josiah Stallings

Cause of death:  axe

Circumstances:   see testimony at inquest

Inquest:   


Indictment:  murder

Term of court:  11/1896

Court proceedings:  pNG.  fG M-2.  12 yrs.
Legal records:  
COB 11/1896 (386-


* 388:  MURDER:  William F. Parkerson, tb.


394-6, 399-400:  MURDER:  WFP trial.  pNG.  fG M-2.  12 yrs.


* 396-7:  INQUEST on Josiah Stallings by J. M. Butler, j.p.

FILE INQUEST:  i.d. 9/8-10/1896 on Josiah Stallings by J. M. Butler, j.p.  TESTIMONY:  copy later.  Witnesses found JS wounded on the evening of “last Monday” (9/7) in a potato patch 30 to 40 yards from his house.  He had been “cut to pieces” with an axe.  The suspect:  Mr. Bill Parkerson, who was “under the influence of liquor” that night.  Register of Deeds Office, Miscellaneous Records 1: 1784-1942 (at court house)

TEST:  E. D. Walker (X):  wit. said that BP told him “I had to do it to keep him from killing me.”

TEST:  Joseph H. Barham (signed):  JS told him “Bill done it.”  JS said “he and Bill had a little row and he told Bill ‘Let’s fight it out fist and skull.’  Bill would not do it and he (Stallings) knocked him down.”  BP got up, got his axe, and “chopped him.”

TEST:  A. J. Bell (signed):  wit. said BP’s wife was at witness’s house in March.  Witness’s wife asked Mrs. P who was going to live in the house that Mr. Mitchell had occupied as a tenant.  “Her reply was ‘No one shall ever live in there any more.’”  Mrs. P was referring to the house “then occupied” by JS.  [[NOTE:  the “then” apparently referred to the time of the murder, not March.]]  “since this conversation no one has occupied the house and Mr. Stallings commenced to move in on Monday 7th.”

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

William Parkerson
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1863> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	17 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	At School 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	S <Single> 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Mclean N. GWALLNY

	 
	 
	Relation
	Other 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	District 30, Isle Of Wight, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255373

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1373

	 
	 
	Page Number
	236D 



Josiah Stallings 
	Other Information:

	 
	 
	Birth Year
	<1850> 

	 
	 
	Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Age
	30 

	 
	 
	Occupation
	Laborer 

	 
	 
	Marital Status
	 

	 
	 
	Race
	W <White> 

	 
	 
	Head of Household
	Ireson CLARKE

	 
	 
	Relation
	Other 

	 
	 
	Father's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	 
	Mother's Birthplace
	VA 

	 
	


	 
	Source Information:

	 
	 
	Census Place
	Blackwater, Surry, Virginia 

	 
	 
	Family History Library Film
	1255392

	 
	 
	NA Film Number
	T9-1392

	 
	 
	Page Number
	1A 


Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

William F. Parkerson
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


33
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
m
Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

VA
Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

Josiah Stallings
Ethnicity:



Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


46
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  
m
Children:

farm tenant
Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:

VA
Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1898, Sept. 5




Mt. Pleasant, SUR
INQ
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    NONDOM
Motive:  
DEBT
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
M
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  0

SUSPECT(s):
John Schmidt
VICTIM(s):
John Hofman and Edward Hofman

Cause of death:  gunshot

Circumstances:   see testimony

Inquest:   i.d. 9/5/1898 by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.  Verdict:  by gunshot wounds inflicted by John Schmidt on 9/5 with murderous intent at Mt. Pleasant.

Indictment:  none:  suspect killed

Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
COB 9/1898 (53-


58-9:  INQUEST on John Hofman and Edward Hofman by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.

FILE:  INQUEST:  i.d. 9/5/1898 on John Hofman and Edward Hofman by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.  Verdict:  by gunshot wounds inflicted by John Schmidt on 9/5 with murderous intent at Mt. Pleasant.  TESTIMONY:  copy later.  According to witnesses, JS went to see the Hofmans to collect a debt from JH.  EH told JS “they would pay him, but it was now in the hands of the law.”  JS started cursing “and told him he didn’t want to hear anything he had to say,” and fired at EH.  EH tumbled over.  JH said “O Lord!” and JS shot him.  Register of Deeds Office, Miscellaneous Records 1: 1784-1942 (at court house)


61:  INQUEST on John Schmidt by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.

FILE INQUEST:  i.d. 9/6/1898 on John Schmidt by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.  Verdict:  killed on 9/5 by a gunshot (a bullet) fired by an unknown member of the Sheriff’s posse that was trying to arrest him for the murders of John Hofman and Edward Hofman.  JS resisted and “attacked” the posse.  TESTIMONY:  copy later.  JS told his son to get his rifle & told the posse he would “never” be taken alive.  Register of Deeds Office, Miscellaneous Records 1: 1784-1942 (at court house)

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

Not in 1880 Surry census.  No clear matches elsewhere in VA.
Genealogy:  


EH:  son of JH
Suspect:  

John Schmidt
Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim 1:  

John Hofman 
Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:

at least 1 son, Edward
Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim 2:  

Edward Hofman
Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

[farm laborer]
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1898, Sept. 6




Mt. Pleasant, SUR
INQ
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    LEGAL SUSPECT by POSSE
Motive:  
RESISTING ARREST
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
T
Holiday?:


Time of day:


Days until death:  0

SUSPECT(s):
unknown member of posse
VICTIM(s):
John Schmidt

Cause of death:  bullet [probably from rifle]

Circumstances:   resisting arrest on charge of murdering the Hofmans.  See testimony.

Inquest:   i.d. 9/6/1896 by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.  Verdict:  killed on 9/5 by a gunshot (a bullet) fired by an unknown member of the Sheriff’s posse that was trying to arrest him for the murders of John Hofman and Edward Hofman.  JS resisted and “attacked” the posse.

Indictment:  none

Term of court:  


Court proceedings:  

Legal records:  
COB 9/1898 (53-


58-9:  INQUEST on John Hofman and Edward Hofman by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.

FILE:  INQUEST:  i.d. 9/5/1898 on John Hofman and Edward Hofman by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.  Verdict:  by gunshot wounds inflicted by John Schmidt on 9/5 with murderous intent at Mt. Pleasant.  TESTIMONY:  copy later.  According to witnesses, JS went to see the Hofmans to collect a debt from JH.  EH told JS “they would pay him, but it was now in the hands of the law.”  JS started cursing “and told him he didn’t want to hear anything he had to say,” and fired at EH.  EH tumbled over.  JH said “O Lord!” and JS shot him.  Register of Deeds Office, Miscellaneous Records 1: 1784-1942 (at court house)


61:  INQUEST on John Schmidt by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.

FILE INQUEST:  i.d. 9/6/1898 on John Schmidt by P. O. Goodrich, j.p.  Verdict:  killed on 9/5 by a gunshot (a bullet) fired by an unknown member of the Sheriff’s posse that was trying to arrest him for the murders of John Hofman and Edward Hofman.  JS resisted and “attacked” the posse.  TESTIMONY:  copy later.  JS told his son to get his rifle & told the posse he would “never” be taken alive.  Register of Deeds Office, Miscellaneous Records 1: 1784-1942 (at court house)

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

Not in 1880 Surry Census.  No clear match in Virginia.
Genealogy:  

Suspect:  

___
Ethnicity:



Race:


[w]
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

John Schmidt
Ethnicity:

German
Race:


w
Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:

[farmer]
Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


1900, Nov. 12




Dendron, SUR
CT
INQ
Class of death:   certain
Class of crime:   HOM
Relationship:    [NONDOM]
Motive:  
UNK
Intoxication?:  

Day of week:
M
Holiday?:
no
Time of day:
night
Days until death:  0

SUSPECT(s):
Robert Palmer (aided and abetted by Nathaniel Allen)
VICTIM(s):
John Henry Mason

Cause of death:  pistol shots to face & neck

Circumstances:   

Inquest:   i.d. 11/13/1900 on John Henry Mason by O. M. Cockes, j.p., at Dendron, Surry County.  Verdict:  on night of 11/12, JHM killed by pistol shots to the face and neck fired by Robert Palmer with intent to kill.  

Indictment:  RA:  murder.  NA:  aiding and abetting.

Term of court:  RA:  11/1900.  NA:  1/1901
Court proceedings:  RP:  3/1901:  fG of M-2.  18 yrs.  A:  4/1901:  fG of aiding and abetting RP’s escape after the fact.  6 months & $50 fine.
Legal records:  
COB 11/1900 (271-


283:  MURDER:  Robert Palmer, tb.

284:  MURDER:  RP con’t to 1/1901t.  Witnesses against RP ($100 bond each):  J. E. Rogers, Joel F. Whitley, Joe Mason, Joe Atkinson, Steven Coleman, Moses Walker, John Hatchett, Ben Christopher, James Walker, Richard Artis, Freeman Brown, Tom Spratley, John Field, Isaac Eley, Mat. Richardson, A. S. Mills, Ernest Dance, Keziah Hawthorne, Ellen Lewis, John Evans, Alfred Green, Peter Williams, Robert Rose, Clinton Bolling, and John Bland.


* 288:  INQUEST on John Henry Mason by O. M. Cockes, j.p.

FILE INQUEST:  i.d. 11/13/1900 on John Henry Mason by O. M. Cockes, j.p., at Dendron, Surry County.  Verdict:  on night of 11/12, JHM killed by pistol shots to the face and neck fired by Robert Palmer with intent to kill.  No testimony.  Register of Deeds Office, Miscellaneous Records 1: 1784-1942 (at court house)

COB 1/1901 (290-324)

310:  MURDER:  Robert Palmer and Nathaniel Allen, tb.  [joint indictment – NA aided and abetted RP’s escape]


312-13:  MURDER:  RP & NA:  con’t

313-14:  MURDER:  witnesses for RP ($100 bond each):  Willie Mason, Bettie Boone, Keziah Hawthorne [[NOTE:  an for the prosecution as well]], Henry Hawthorne, and Fayette Wilson.

314:  MURDER:  witnesses for NA ($100 bond each):  Bettie Boone and George Jones.

COB 3/1901


346-7:  MURDER:  RP fG of M-2.  18 yrs.

COB 5/1901

376:  MURDER:  NA fG of aiding and abetting RP’s escape after the fact.  6 months & $50 fine.

Newspapers:
Other sources:  
Census:  

Not in 1880 Surry census.  No clear matches in VA.
Genealogy:  

Suspect 1:  

Robert Palmer
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect 2:  

Nathaniel Allen
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Victim:  

John Henry Mason
Ethnicity:



Race:




Gender:

m
Age:


adult
Phys char:



Literate:



Marital Status:  


Children:



Occupation:



Town:




Birthplace:



Religion:



Organizations:



Personal history:  


Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s











Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s














Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s











Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s











Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s





Suspect(s








